
The Consolidated Financial Statements presented as follows have been prepared  

in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  

They also comply with additional requirements set forth in Section 315a (1)  

of the German Commercial Code (HGB). 
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Consolidated Statement of Income.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Industrial Business 
(unaudited additional  

information)

Daimler Financial Services 
(unaudited additional  

information)

Note 2013 2012 
(adjusted)1

2013 2012 
(adjusted)1

2013 2012 
(adjusted)1

In millions of euros

Revenue 4 117,982 114,297 103,460 100,747 14,522 13,550

Cost of sales 5 -92,457 -88,821 -80,154 -77,572 -12,303 -11,249

Gross profit 25,525 25,476 23,306 23,175 2,219 2,301

Selling expenses 5 -10,875 -10,455 -10,414 -10,060 -461 -395

General administrative expenses 5 -3,865 -3,974 -3,337 -3,337 -528 -637

Research and non-capitalized  
development costs

 
5

 
-4,101

 
-4,179

 
-4,101

 
-4,179

 
–

 
–

Other operating income 6 1,530 1,507 1,467 1,446 63 61

Other operating expense 6 -399 -291 -380 -276 -19 -15

Share of profit/loss from  
investments accounted for using  
the equity method, net

 
 

13

 
 

3,345

 
 

1,198

 
 

3,344

 
 

1,214

 
 

1

 
 

-16

Other financial expense, net 7 -349 -462 -342 -456 -7 -6

Interest income 8 212 233 212 232 – 1

Interest expense 8 -884 -937 -878 -925 -6 -12

Profit before income taxes2 10,139 8,116 8,877 6,834 1,262 1,282

Income taxes 9 -1,419 -1,286 -874 -825 -545 -461

Net profit 8,720 6,830 8,003 6,009 717 821

thereof profit attributable to  
non-controlling interest

 
1,878

 
402

thereof profit attributable to  
shareholders of Daimler AG

 
6,842

 
6,428

Earnings per share (in euros)  
for profit attributable  
to shareholders of Daimler AG

 
 

35

Basic 6.40 6.02

Diluted 6.40 6.02

1   Information related to the adjustments of the prior-year figures is disclosed in Note 1.
2  The reconciliation of Group EBIT to profit before income taxes is disclosed in Note 33.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive  
Income/Loss1.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated

2013 2012 
(adjusted)2

In millions of euros

Net profit 8,720 6,830

Unrealized losses from currency translation adjustments -1,531 -502

Unrealized gains from financial assets available for sale 28 164

Unrealized gains from derivative financial instruments 802 702

Unrealized gains from investments accounted for using the equity method 16 7

Items that may be reclassified to profit/loss -685 371

Actuarial losses on investments accounted for using the equity method -1 -192

Actuarial gains/losses from pensions and similar obligations 1,119 -2,281

Items that will not be reclassified to profit/loss 1,118 -2,473

Other comprehensive income/loss, net of taxes 433 -2,102

thereof loss attributable to non-controlling interest -19 -115

thereof income/loss attributable to shareholders of Daimler AG 452 -1,987

Total comprehensive income 9,153 4,728

thereof income attributable to non-controlling interest 1,859 287

thereof income attributable to shareholders of Daimler AG 7,294 4,441

1   For other information on comprehensive income/loss, see Note 20. 
2   Information on adjustments to the prior-year figures is disclosed in Note 1.

F.02
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Industrial Business
(unaudited additional

information)

Daimler Financial Services
(unaudited additional

information)

At December 31, At January 1, At December 31, At December 31, 
Note 2013 2012 

(adjusted)1
2012  

(adjusted)1
2013 2012 

(adjusted)1
2013 2012 

(adjusted)1

In millions of euros

Assets
Intangible assets 10 9,388 8,885 8,259 9,289 8,808 99 77

Property, plant and equipment 11 21,779 20,599 19,180 21,732 20,546 47 53

Equipment on operating leases 12 28,160 26,058 22,811 13,207 12,163 14,953 13,895

Investments accounted for using  
the equity method 

 
13

 
3,432

 
4,304

 
4,304

 
3,419

 
4,291

 
13

 
13

Receivables from financial services 14 27,769 27,062 25,007 -29 -33 27,798 27,095

Marketable debt securities 15 1,666 1,539 947 6 9 1,660 1,530

Other financial assets 16 3,523 3,890 2,957 -767 -216 4,290 4,106

Deferred tax assets 9 1,829 2,733 2,820 1,348 2,178 481 555

Other assets 17 531 534 383 -1,818 -1,753 2,349 2,287

Total non-current assets 98,077 95,604 86,668 46,387 45,993 51,690 49,611

Inventories 18 17,349 17,720 17,081 16,648 17,075 701 645

Trade receivables 19 7,803 7,543 7,849 7,208 6,864 595 679

Receivables from financial services 14 23,001 21,998 20,560 -14 -17 23,015 22,015

Cash and cash equivalents 11,053 10,996 9,576 9,845 9,887 1,208 1,109

Marketable debt securities 15 5,400 4,059 1,334 5,297 3,832 103 227

Other financial assets 16 2,718 2,070 2,007 -6,670 -6,625 9,388 8,695

Other assets 17 3,117 3,072 2,711 447 536 2,670 2,536

Total current assets 70,441 67,458 61,118 32,761 31,552 37,680 35,906

Total assets 168,518 163,062 147,786 79,148 77,545 89,370 85,517

Equity and liabilities
Share capital 3,069 3,063 3,060

Capital reserve 11,850 12,026 11,895

Retained earnings 27,628 22,017 20,332

Other reserves 133 799 389

Treasury shares – – –

Equity attributable to shareholders of Daimler AG 42,680 37,905 35,676

Non-controlling interests 683 1,425 1,582

Total equity 20 43,363 39,330 37,258 36,767 33,238 6,596 6,092

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 22 9,869 11,299 7,866 9,726 11,151 143 148

Provisions for income taxes 823 727 2,498 823 726 0 1

Provisions for other risks 23 5,270 5,150 5,309 5,152 4,992 118 158

Financing liabilities 24 44,746 43,340 35,466 13,542 10,950 31,204 32,390

Other financial liabilities 25 1,701 1,750 1,943 1,575 1,613 126 137

Deferred tax liabilities 9 892 268 418 -1,300 -1,808 2,192 2,076

Deferred income 26 2,728 2,444 2,118 2,283 1,989 445 455

Other liabilities 27 18 38 56 15 32 3 6

Total non-current liabilities 66,047 65,016 55,674 31,816 29,645 34,231 35,371

Trade payables 9,086 8,832 9,515 8,778 8,515 308 317

Provisions for income taxes 517 1,006 1,030 438 900 79 106

Provisions for other risks 23 6,619 6,292 6,782 6,230 5,983 389 309

Financing liabilities 24 32,992 32,911 26,701 -12,218 -8,067 45,210 40,978

Other financial liabilities 25 6,575 6,699 7,798 4,797 5,023 1,778 1,676

Deferred income 26 1,868 1,640 1,548 1,351 1,153 517 487

Other liabilities 27 1,451 1,336 1,480 1,189 1,155 262 181

Total current liabilities 59,108 58,716 54,854 10,565 14,662 48,543 44,054

Total equity and liabilities 168,518 163,062 147,786 79,148 77,545 89,370 85,517

1   Information on adjustments of the prior-year figures is disclosed in Note 1.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows1.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Industrial Business
(unaudited additional

information)

Daimler Financial Services
(unaudited additional

information)

2013 2012
(adjusted)2

2013 2012 
(adjusted)2

2013 2012 
(adjusted)2

In millions of euros

Profit before income taxes 10,139 8,116 8,877 6,834 1,262 1,282

Depreciation and amortization 4,368 4,067 4,343 4,042 25 25

Other non-cash expense and income -3,345 -278 -3,380 -339 35 61

Gains (-)/losses on disposals of assets 193 -768 193 -768 – –

Change in operating assets and liabilities

Inventories -592 -840 -475 -677 -117 -163

Trade receivables -695 138 -757 565 62 -427

Trade payables 610 -621 602 -662 8 41

Receivables from financial services -5,334 -4,395 267 803 -5,601 -5,198

Vehicles on operating leases -2,990 -3,676 -263 -126 -2,727 -3,550

Other operating assets and liabilities 2,240 -741 1,950 -462 290 -279

Income taxes paid -1,309 -2,102 -1,044 -1,683 -265 -419

Cash provided by/used for operating activities 3,285 -1,100 10,313 7,527 -7,028 -8,627

Additions to property, plant and equipment -4,975 -4,827 -4,956 -4,804 -19 -23

Additions to intangible assets -1,932 -1,830 -1,894 -1,800 -38 -30

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and  
equipment and intangible assets

 
180

 
196

 
170

 
189

 
10

 
7

Investments in share property -969 -764 -964 -759 -5 -5

Proceeds from disposals of share property 2,414 1,767 2,413 1,766 1 1

Acquisition of marketable debt securities -6,566 -8,089 -6,072 -6,756 -494 -1,333

Proceeds from sales of marketable debt securities 4,991 4,742 4,524 4,057 467 685

Other 28 -59 12 -59 16 -

Cash used for investing activities -6,829 -8,864 -6,767 -8,166 -62 -698

Change in short-term financing liabilities 845 -68 -432 -373 1,277 305

Additions to long-term financing liabilities 37,602 36,904 5,271 9,539 32,331 27,365

Repayment of long-term financing liabilities -31,987 -22,590 -5,537 -4,724 -26,450 -17,866

Dividend paid to shareholders of Daimler AG -2,349 -2,346 -2,349 -2,346 – –

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests -269 -387 -268 -380 -1 -7

Proceeds from the issuance of share capital 101 65 96 60 5 5

Acquisition of treasury shares -24 -25 -24 -25 – –

Acquisition of non-controlling interests in subsidiaries -73 -47 -73 -47 – –

Proceeds from disposals of interests  
in subsidiaries without loss of control

 
9

 
–

 
9

 
–

 
–

 
–

Internal equity transactions – – -75 11 75 -11

Cash provided by/used for financing activities 3,855 11,506 -3,382 1,715 7,237 9,791

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  
on cash and cash equivalents

 
-254

 
-122

 
-206

 
-97

 
-48

 
-25

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents 57 1,420 -42 979 99 441

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  
of the period

 
10,996

 
9,576

 
9,887

 
8,908

 
1,109

 
668

Cash and cash equivalents at the end  
of the period

 
11,053

 
10,996

 
9,845

 
9,887

 
1,208

 
1,109

1   For other information on consolidated statements of cash flows, see Note 28. 
2   Information on adjustments to the prior-year figures is disclosed in Note 1. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity1.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 
 
 

Share  
capital

 
 
 

Capital 
 reserves

 
 

Retained  
earnings  

(adjusted)3

 
 

Currency  
translation  
(adjusted)

 
 

Financial  
assets  

available for sale

In millions of euros

Balance at January 1, 2012  
before adjustments

 
3,060

 
11,895

 
24,228

 
1,049

 
71

Effects from first-time adoption of IAS 19R – – -3,862 -52 –

Effect from adjustment of early retirement  
and partial retirement plans

 
–

 
–

 
-34

 
–

 
–

Balance at January 1, 2012  
after adjustments2

 
3,060

 
11,895

 
20,332

 
997

 
71

Net profit – – 6,428 - -

Other comprehensive income/loss before taxes – – -4,008 -481 163

Deferred taxes on other comprehensive income – – 1,611 - -

Total comprehensive income/loss – – 4,031 -481 163

Dividends – – -2,346 – –

Share-based payment – 1 – – –

Capital increase/Issue of new shares 3 33 – – –

Acquisition of treasury shares – – – – –

Issue and disposal of treasury shares – – – – –

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries – 102 – – –

Other – -5 – – –

Balance at December 31, 2012 3,063 12,026 22,017 516 234

Balance at January 1, 2013 
before adjustments

 
3,063

 
12,026

 
27,977

 
530

 
234

Effects from first-time adoption of IAS 19R – – -5,919 -14 –

Effect from adjustment of early retirement  
and partial retirement plans

 
–

 
–

 
-41

 
–

 
–

Balance at January 1, 2013  
after adjustments2

 
3,063

 
12,026

 
22,017

 
516

 
234

Net profit – – 6,842 – –

Other comprehensive income/loss before taxes – – 1,490 -1,485 33

Deferred taxes on other comprehensive income – – -372 - -6

Total comprehensive income/loss – – 7,960 -1,485 27

Dividends – – -2,349 – –

Share-based payment – 2 – – –

Capital increase/Issue of new shares 6 72 – – –

Acquisition of treasury shares – – – – –

Issue and disposal of treasury shares – – – – –

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries – -23 – – –

Other – -227 – – –

Balance at December 31, 2013 3,069 11,850 27,628 -969 261

1   For other information on changes in equity, see Note 20.
2   Information on adjustments to the prior-year figures is disclosed in Note 1. 
3   Retained earnings also include items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss. Actuarial losses from pensions  

and similar obligations amount to €4,983 million net of tax in 2013 (2012: €6,139 million net of tax). 

F.05



191

Other reserves items  
that may be  

reclassified in profit/loss

 

 
 

Derivative  
financial  

instruments

Share of 
 investments 

accounted for 
using the equity 

method

 
 
 

Treasury 
 shares

Equity  
attributable to  
 shareholders  
of Daimler AG 

(adjusted)

 
Non- 

controlling 
interest 

(adjusted)

 
 

Total  
equity 

(adjusted)

In millions of euros

 
-651

 
-28

 
-

 
39,624

 
1,713

 
41,337

Balance at January 1, 2012  
before adjustments

- - - -3,914 -131 -4,045 Effects from first-time adoption of IAS 19R

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-34

 
-

 
-34

Effect from adjustment of early retirement  
and partial retirement plans

 
-651

 
-28

 
-

 
35,676

 
1,582

 
37,258

Balance at January 1, 2012  
after adjustments

- – - 6,428 402 6,830 Net profit

988 56 - -3,282 -155 -3,437 Other comprehensive income/loss before taxes

-287 -29 - 1,295 40 1,335 Deferred taxes on other comprehensive income

701 27 - 4,441 287 4,728 Total comprehensive income/loss

- - - -2,346 -387 -2,733 Dividends

- - - 1 - 1 Share-based payment

- - - 36 33 69 Capital increase/Issue of new shares

- - -25 -25 - -25 Acquisition of treasury shares

- - 25 25 - 25 Issue and disposal of treasury shares

- - - 102 -178 -76 Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries

- - - -5 88 83 Other

50 -1 - 37,905 1,425 39,330 Balance at December 31, 2012

 
50

 
-1

 
–

 
43,879

 
1,631

 
45,510

Balance at January 1, 2013  
before adjustments

– – – -5,933 -206 -6,139 Effects from first-time adoption of IAS 19R

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
-41

 
–

 
-41

Effect from adjustment of early retirement  
and partial retirement plans

 
50

 
-1

 
–

 
37,905

 
1,425

 
39,330

Balance at January 1, 2013 
after adjustments

– – – 6,842 1,878 8,720 Net profit

1,141 32 – 1,211 -6 1,205 Other comprehensive income/loss before taxes

-338 -43 – -759 -13 -772 Deferred taxes on other comprehensive income

803 -11 – 7,294 1,859 9,153 Total comprehensive income/loss

– – – -2,349 -269 -2,618 Dividends

– – – 2 – 2 Share-based payment

– – – 78 7 85 Capital increase/Issue of new shares

– – -24 -24 – -24 Acquisition of treasury shares

– – 24 24 – 24 Issue and disposal of treasury shares

– – – -23 -2,433 -2,456 Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries 

– – – -227 94 -133 Other

853 -12 – 42,680 683 43,363 Balance at December 31, 2013

F | Consolidated Financial Statements | Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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1. Significant accounting policies

General information

The consolidated financial statements of Daimler AG and  
its subsidiaries (“Daimler” or “the Group”) have been prepared 
in accordance with Section 315a of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB) and comply with the International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU).

Daimler AG is a stock corporation organized under the laws  
of the Federal Republic of Germany. The company is entered  
in the Commercial Register of the Stuttgart District Court 
under No. HRB 19360 and its registered office is located at 
Mercedesstraße 137, 70327 Stuttgart, Germany. 

The consolidated financial statements of Daimler AG are  
presented in euros (€). Unless otherwise stated, all amounts 
are stated in millions of euros. All figures shown are rounded  
in accordance with standard business rounding principles.

The Board of Management authorized the consolidated  
financial statements for publication on February 18, 2014.

Basis of preparation 

Applied IFRSs. The accounting policies applied in the con-
solidated financial statements comply with the IFRSs required 
to be applied in the EU as of December 31, 2013. 

IFRSs issued, EU endorsed and initially adopted in the 
financial year. In December 2011, the IASB published amend-
ments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: disclosures relating  
to the offsetting of financial instruments. The additional disclo-
sure obligations relate to offset financial instruments as well  
as to financial instruments which are not offset but which are 
subject to global offsetting agreements or similar agreements. 
The amendments to IFRS 7 are to be applied for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013 and retrospectively.  
Further information is provided in Note 31. 

In May 2011, IASB published IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, 
which combines the regulations for fair value measurement 
that were previously contained in the individual IFRSs into a single 
standard and replaces them with a uniform IFRS framework  
for measuring fair value. In compliance with the transitional 
provisions of IFRS 13, the Group has applied the new provi-
sions prospectively since January 1, 2013. The initial application 
of the standard does not lead to significant changes in the 
measurement of assets and liabilities. Further information is 
provided in Note 31.

In June 2011, IASB published amendments to IAS 19 Employee 
Benefits. The amendments to IAS 19 must be applied retro-
spectively in financial statements for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2013. Daimler has adjusted the figures 
reported for the previous year for effects arising from application 
of the amended version of IAS 19. 

At Daimler, the amendments to IAS 19 lead to the following  
significant effects: 

Pensions and similar obligations. The Group has previously 
used the corridor method, which is no longer permitted under 
the revised IAS 19. As a result, actuarial losses existing in  
the Group have a direct effect on the consolidated statement 
of financial position and lead to an increase in provisions  
for pension and similar obligations and a reduction in equity. 
Since the actuarial losses will be recognized directly in other 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of income 
will in the future remain free from the effects of the amorti-
zation of the amount exceeding the corridor. Moreover, the net 
interest cost approach for discounting the net pension benefit 
obligation at the rate used for the measurement of the gross 
pension obligation will be applied. Since the net pension  
benefit obligation is reduced by any plan assets, the same  
discount rate is assumed for discounting plan assets. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Obligations for part-time early retirement. As a result of the 
revised definition of termination benefits provided in IAS 19,  
the top-up amounts agreed in the framework of the part-time 
early retirement agreements now represent other long-term 
employee benefits. The pro-rata accumulation of top-up 
amounts over the relevant active service period of employees 
who receive part-time early retirement benefits leads  
to a reduction in provisions for part-time early retirement. 

Table  F.06 shows the effects of the application of IAS 19  
on the line items of the consolidated statement of financial 
position as of January 1, 2012 and December 31, 2012. 

The effects on the consolidated statement of income  
for 2012 are presented in table  F.07.

Basic and diluted earnings per share each increased  
in 2012 by €0.31.

Table  F.08 and  F.09 show the effects on the Group’s  
consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated 
statement of income if the Group had not applied IAS 19R  
as of January 1, 2013.

Diluted and undiluted earnings per share decreased  
in 2013 by €0.46.

The EBIT effect from the retention of IAS 19 mainly results  
from the disposal of the investment in European Aeronautic 
Defence and Space Company EADS N.V. (EADS). If the corridor 
method had still been applied, the equity investment would 
have been increased by the actuarial losses. As a result, this 
would have led to a decreased disposal result.

The changeover to the revised IAS 19 led to a review of  
the calculation of the pension obligations for part-time early 
retirement benefits. Subsequently, the obligations from the  
outstanding settlement amount pursuant to IAS 8.42 recorded 
as of December 31, 2012 and January 1, 2012 were adjusted  
by €58 million and €48 million, respectively. The effects after tax 
on equity amount to €41 million and €34 million, respectively. 
The effects on the consolidated statement of income and on 
earnings per share in 2012 are not material. 

According to amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Items  
of Other Comprehensive Income, items of other comprehensive 
income that may be reclassified to profit and loss have  
to be disclosed separately from items of other comprehensive 
income that will not be reclassified to profit or loss. Daimler 
applies these changes in disclosures since January 1, 2013.

F.06
Effects of the revised IAS 19 on the consolidated statement  
of financial position

December 31, January 1,
2012 2012

In millions of euros

Investments accounted for using  
the equity method

 
-342

 
-357

Other assets -33 -37

Total equity -6,139 -4,045

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 8,264 4,682

Provisions for other risks -347 -334

Balance of deferred tax assets  
and deferred tax liabilities

 
-2,153

 
-697

F.08
Effects of the retention of IAS 19 on the consolidated statement  
of financial position

December 31, 2013

In millions of euros

Investments accounted for using the equity method -51

Other assets 33

Total equity 4,558

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations -6,708

Provisions for other risks 413

Balance of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 1,719

F.09
Effects of the retention IAS 19 on the consolidated statement  
of income

2013

In millions of euros

EBIT -492

Interest result -62

Income taxes 59

Net profit -495

Effects of the revised IAS 19 on the consolidated statement of income

2012

In millions of euros

Cost of sales -27

Selling expenses -4

General administrative expenses -1

Share of profit/loss from investments accounted  
for using the equity method, net

 
208

Other financial expense, net 39

Interest result 193

Income taxes -66

Net profit 342

F.07
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IFRSs issued but neither EU endorsed nor yet adopted. 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments reflects the first and third phase 
of the IASB project to replace IAS 39 and deals with the  
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial 
liabilities as well as regulations for general hedge accounting. 
Accordingly, in the future, financial assets will be classified and 
measured either at amortized cost or at fair value. The provi-
sions relating to financial liabilities will generally be adopted from 
IAS 39. With the amendment to IFRS 9 issued in November 
2013, mandatory adoption as of January 1, 2015 was cancelled. 
A new adoption date will be defined only when the standard 
has been finalized. Only then endorsement by the EU is planned. 
The analysis of the effects of applying IFRS 9 on the  
con so lidated financial statements has not yet been finished.

Other IFRSs issued but not EU endorsed are not expected  
to have a significant influence on the Group’s financial position, 
cash flows or earnings. Subject to EU endorsement of these 
standards, which are then to be adopted in future periods, 
Daimler currently does not plan to apply these standards earlier.

Presentation. Presentation in the statement of financial  
position differentiates between current and non-current assets 
and liabilities. Assets and liabilities are classified as current  
if they mature within one year or within a longer and normal 
operating cycle. Deferred tax assets and liabilities as well  
as assets and provisions for pensions and similar obligations 
are generally presented as non-current items. 

The consolidated statement of income is presented using  
the cost-of-sales method. 

Commercial practices with respect to certain products  
manufactured by the Group necessitate that sales financing, 
including leasing alternatives, be made available to the  
Group’s customers. Accordingly, the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements are significantly influenced by the  
activities of its financial services business.

To enhance readers’ understanding of the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements, unaudited information with respect  
to the results of operations and financial position of the Group’s 
industrial and financial services business activities (Daimler 
Financial Services) is provided in addition to the audited conso-
lidated financial statements. Such information, however,  
is not required by IFRS and is not intended to, and does not 
represent the separate IFRS results of operations and finan-
cial position of the Group’s industrial or financial services  
business activities. Eliminations of the effects of transactions 
between the industrial and financial services businesses 
have generally been allocated to the industrial business columns.

The amendments to IAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures 
for Non-Financial Assets are applied earlier in 2013.  
Accordingly there is no requirement to disclose the recover-
able amount of cash-generating units.

All other IFRSs with an initial application in the EU  
as of January 1, 2013 had no significant impact on the  
consolidated financial statements.

IFRSs issued and EU endorsed but not yet adopted.  
In May 2011, the IASB issued three new standards that provide 
guidance with respect to accounting for investments of the 
reporting entity in other entities. The EU endorsed the standards 
in December 2012. IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 
supersedes consolidation rules in IAS 27 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements as well as SIC-12 Consolidation – 
Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 establishes a single  
con solidation model based on control that applies to all entities 
irrespective of the type of controlled entity. According to the 
new model control exists if the potential parent company has 
the power of decision over the potential subsidiary based on  
voting rights or other rights, if it participates in positive or nega-
tive variable returns from the potential subsidiary, and if it  
can affect these returns by its power of decision. The standard 
is not expected to have a significant influence on the Group’s 
Financial Statements. 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements provides new guidance on account-
ing for joint arrangements. The standard supersedes IAS 31 
Interests in Joint Ventures as well as SIC-13 Jointly Controlled 
Entities – Non-Monetary Contributions by Ventures. In the 
future, it has to be decided whether a joint operation or a joint 
venture exists. In a joint venture the parties that have joint 
control have rights to the net assets. A joint operation exists,  
if the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets  
and obligations for the liabilities. In the case of a joint operation 
the proportionate assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses 
have to be recognized. Interests in a joint venture shall be 
accounted for as an investment using the equity method. The 
identified joint operations at Daimler do not have a signi-
ficant influence on the Group’s Financial Statements. Therefore, 
Daimler continues to account for the investments using the 
equity method or the investments are measured at amortized 
costs. 

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities provides guid-
ance on disclosure requirements for interests in other entities 
by combining existing disclosure requirements from several 
standards in one comprehensive disclosure standard.  

Daimler will apply the new consolidation standards as of the 
mandatory effective date for IFRS users in the EU as of January 1, 
2014 on a retrospective basis. 

Other IFRSs and interpretations issued are not expected to 
have a significant influence on the Group’s financial position, 
cash flows or earnings. 
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Measurement. The consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared on the historical cost basis with the exception 
of certain items such as available-for-sale financial assets, 
derivative financial instruments, hedged items, and pensions 
and similar obligations. The measurement models applied  
to those exceptions are described below.

Principles of consolidation. The consolidated financial  
statements include the financial statements of Daimler AG and, 
in general, the financial statements of Daimler AG’s sub-
sidiaries, including special purpose entities which are directly 
or indirectly controlled by Daimler AG. Control means the 
power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operat-
ing policies of an entity so that the Group obtains benefits  
from its activities.The financial statements of consolidated sub-
sidiaries are generally prepared as of the reporting date of  
the consolidated financial statements. The financial statements 
of Daimler AG and its subsidiaries included in the conso-
lidated financial statements are prepared using uniform recog-
nition and measurement principles. All significant inter-
company accounts and transactions relating to consolidated 
subsidiaries and consolidated special purpose entities  
are eliminated.

Equity investments in which Daimler has the ability to exercise 
significant influence over the financial and operating policies  
of the investee (associated companies) and entities over whose 
activities Daimler has joint control with a partner (joint  
ventures) are generally included in the consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method. 

Subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures whose 
business is non-active or of low volume and that are not  
material for the Group and the fair presentation of financial 
position, liquidity and capital resources, and profitability  
are generally measured at amortized cost in the consolidated 
financial statements. The aggregate balance sheet totals  
of these subsidiaries would amount to approximately 1% of the 
Group’s balance sheet total; the aggregate revenues and  
the aggregate profit/loss before income taxes amount to approx-
imately 1% of Group revenue and profit before income taxes.

Table  F.10 shows the composition of the Group.

Business combinations are accounted for using  
the purchase method.

Changes in equity interests in Group subsidiaries that reduce 
or increase Daimler’s percentage ownership without loss  
of control are accounted for as an equity transaction between 
owners.

As an additional funding source, Daimler transfers finance 
receivables, in particular receivables from the leasing  
and automotive business, to special purpose entities. Daimler 
thereby principally retains the significant risks of the  
transferred receivables. According to IAS 27 Consolidated  
and Separate Financial Statements and the Standing Inter-
pretations Committee (SIC) Interpretation 12 Consolidation – 
Special Purpose Entities, these special purpose entities  
have to be consolidated by the transferor. The transferred finan-
cial assets remain in Daimler’s consolidated statement  
of financial position. 

Composition of the Group

2013 2012

Consolidated subsidiaries

Germany 49 50

International 271 287

Subsidiaries accounted for at cost

Germany 35 40

International 57 69

Subsidiaries accounted for  
using the equity method

Germany 0 1

International 3 3

Associated companies and joint ventures

Germany 21 22

International 38 41

474 513

F.10
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Investments in associated companies and joint ventures. 
Associated companies and joint ventures are generally 
accounted for using the equity method.

At the acquisition date, the excess of the cost of Daimler’s  
initial investment in an associate or joint venture and the share 
of the net fair value of the associate’s or joint venture’s iden-
tifiable assets and liabilities is recognized as investor level good-
will and is included in the carrying amount of the investment 
accounted for using the equity method. Step acquisitions, through 
which significant influence or joint control is obtained for  
the first time, are generally accounted for in accordance with 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations, which means the previously 
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition-date fair 
value; resulting gains and losses are recognized in profit  
or loss. If an additional ownership interest is acquired in an exist-
ing associated company while significant influence is main-
tained, goodwill is calculated only on the incremental interest 
acquired. The pre-existing investment is not measured  
anew at fair value. 

When the status of an investment changes from joint venture 
to associated company, Daimler continues to apply the equity 
method and recognizes any gain or loss only to the extent  
of the reduction in ownership interest. 

Daimler assesses at each reporting date whether objective  
evidence of impairment is present with regard to its investments 
in associated companies and joint ventures. If such indication 
exists, the Group determines the impairment. If the carrying 
amount exceeds the recoverable amount of an investment,  
the carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount.  
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs  
of disposal and value in use. An impairment loss or the reversal 
of such a loss is recognized in the consolidated statement  
of income in the line item “Share of profit/loss from investments 
accounted for using the equity method, net”. Income and 
expenses from the sale of investments accounted for using  
the equity method are shown in the same line item.

Profits and losses from transactions with associated  
companies and joint ventures are eliminated by adjusting  
the carrying amount of the investment accordingly. 

Daimler’s share of any dilution gains and losses resulting  
from capital increases by its investees accounted for using  
the equity method in which the Group or other shareholders  
do not participate are recognized in “Share of profit/loss  
from investments accounted for using the equity method, net.”

In the special event that the financial statements of associated 
companies or joint ventures should not be available in good 
time, the Group’s proportionate share of the results of operations 
is included in Daimler’s consolidated financial statements  
with a one to three-month time lag. Adjustments are made  
for all significant events or transactions that occur during  
the time lag (see also Note 13). 

Foreign currency translation. Transactions in foreign  
currency are translated at the relevant foreign exchange rates 
prevailing at the transaction date. In subsequent periods, 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are trans-
lated into euros using period-end exchange rates; gains and 
losses from this measurement are recognized in profit and loss 
(except for gains and losses resulting from the translation  
of available-for-sale equity instruments, which are recognized 
in other comprehensive income/loss). 

Assets and liabilities of foreign companies for which the  
functional currency is not the euro are translated into  
euros using period-end exchange rates. The translation adjust-
ments are presented in other comprehensive income/loss.  
The components of equity are translated using historical rates.  
The statements of income and cash flows are translated  
into euros using average exchange rates during the respective 
periods.

The exchange rates of the US dollar and the Japanese Yen,  
the most significant foreign currencies for Daimler, were as 
shown in table  F.11.

Exchange rates of the US dollar

2013 2012

€1 = €1 =

Average exchange rate on December 31 1.3791 1.3194

Average exchange rates during the respective period

First quarter 1.3206 1.3108

Second quarter 1.3062 1.2826

Third quarter 1.3242 1.2502

Fourth quarter 1.3610 1.2967

Exchange rates of the Japanese yen

2013 2012

€1 = €1 =

Average exchange rate on December 31 144.7200 113.6100

Average exchange rates during the respective period

First quarter 121.7900 103.9900

Second quarter 129.0700 102.7400

Third quarter 131.0200 98.3000

Fourth quarter 136.4800 105.1200

F.11
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Accounting policies

Revenue recognition. Revenue from sales of vehicles, service 
parts and other related products is recognized when the  
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods are transferred  
to the customer, the amount of revenue can be estimated  
reliably and collectability is reasonably assured. Revenue is recog-
nized net of sales reductions such as cash discounts and  
sales incentives granted.

Daimler uses sales incentives in response to a number  
of market and product factors, including pricing actions and 
incentives offered by competitors, the amount of excess  
industry production capacity, the intensity of market competi-
tion, and consumer demand for the product. The Group may 
offer a variety of sales incentive programs at a point in time, 
including cash offers to dealers and consumers, lease subsidies 
which reduce the consumers’ monthly lease payment,  
or reduced financing rate programs offered to costumers.

Revenue from receivables from financial services is recognized 
using the effective interest method. When loans are issued 
below market rates, related receivables are recognized at present 
value and revenue is reduced for the interest incentive granted. 
If subsidized leasing fees are agreed upon in connection with 
finance leases, revenue from the sale of a vehicle is reduced  
by the amount of the interest incentive granted.

The Group offers an extended, separately priced warranty  
for certain products. Revenue from these contracts is deferred 
and recognized into income over the contract period in pro-
portion to the costs expected to be incurred based on historical 
information. In circumstances in which there is insufficient  
historical information, income from extended warranty contracts 
is recognized on a straight-line basis. A loss on these contracts 
is recognized in the current period if the sum of the expected 
costs for services under the contract exceeds unearned revenue.

For transactions with multiple deliverables, such as when  
vehicles are sold with free or reduced-in-price service programs, 
the Group allocates revenue to the various elements based  
on their estimated fair values. 

Sales in which the Group guarantees the minimum resale value 
of the product are accounted for as an operating lease. The 
guarantee of the resale value may take the form of an obligation 
by Daimler to pay any deficiency between the proceeds the 
customer receives upon resale and the guaranteed amount, or 
an obligation to reacquire the vehicle after a certain period  
of time at a set price. Gains or losses from the resale of these 
vehicles are included in gross profit in the consolidated state-
ment of income.

Revenue from operating leases is recognized on a straight- 
line basis over the lease term. Among the assets subject  
to operating leases are Group products which are purchased 
by Daimler Financial Services from independent third-party 
dealers and leased to customers. After revenue recognition 
from the sale of the vehicles to independent third-party  
dealers, these vehicles create further revenue from leasing  
and remarketing as a result of lease contracts entered into. 
The Group estimates that the revenue recognized following  
the sale of vehicles to dealers equals approximately the  
additions to leased assets at Daimler Financial Services. Addi-
tions to leased assets at Daimler Financial Services were 
approximately €8 billion in 2013 (2012: approximately €8 billion).

Research and non-capitalized development costs.  
Expenditure for research and development that does not meet 
the conditions for capitalization according to IAS 38 Intangible 
Assets is expensed as incurred.

Borrowing costs. Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred 
unless they are directly attributable to the acquisition, con-
struction or production of a qualifying asset and are therefore 
part of the cost of that asset. Depreciation of the capitalized 
borrowing costs is presented within cost of sales.

Government grants. Government grants related to assets  
are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and  
are recognized in profit or loss over the life of a depreciable 
asset as a reduced depreciation expense. Government  
grants which compensate the Group for expenses are recog-
nized as other operating income in the same period as  
the expenses themselves.

Interest income and interest expense. Interest income  
and interest expense include interest income from investments 
in securities, cash and cash equivalents as well as interest 
expense from liabilities. Furthermore, interest and changes  
in fair values related to interest rate hedging activities as  
well as income and expense resulting from the allocation of pre-
miums and discounts are included. The interest components  
of pensions and similar obligations are also presented in this line 
item.

An exception to the aforementioned principles is made for 
Daimler Financial Services. In this case, the interest income and 
expense and the result from derivative financial instruments 
are disclosed under revenue and cost of sales respectively.
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Other financial income/expense, net. Other financial 
income/expense, net includes all income and expense from 
financial transactions which are not included in interest 
income and/or interest expense, and for Daimler Financial  
Services are not included in revenue and/or cost of sales.  
For example, expense from the compounding of interest on 
provisions for other risks is recorded in this line item.

Income taxes. Current income taxes are determined based  
on the respective local taxable income of the period and local 
tax rules. In addition, current income taxes include adjust-
ments for uncertain tax payments or tax refunds for periods 
not yet assessed as well as interest expense and penalties  
on the underpayment of taxes. Changes in deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are included in income taxes except for  
changes recognized in other comprehensive income/loss  
or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets or liabilities are determined based  
on temporary differences between financial reporting and the 
tax basis of assets and liabilities including differences from 
consolidation, loss carryforwards and tax credits. Measurement 
is based on the tax rates expected to be effective in the period  
in which an asset is realized or a liability is settled. For this pur-
pose, the tax rates and tax rules are used which have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred 
tax assets are recognized to the extent that taxable profit  
at the level of the relevant tax authority will be available for the 
utilization of the deductible temporary differences. Daimler 
recognizes a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets when 
it is unlikely that a corresponding amount of future taxable 
profit will be available.

For uncertain income tax items for which the risk exists that 
they will not be utilizable, a provision for income taxes is recog-
nized or, in the case of tax loss carryforwards, the correspond-
ing deferred tax asset is reduced. The assessment is based  
on the best possible assessment of the expected tax payment. 

Earnings per share. Basic earnings per share are calculated 
by dividing profit attributable to shareholders of Daimler AG  
by the weighted average number of shares outstanding. Diluted 
earnings per share additionally reflect the potential dilution 
that would occur if all stock option plans were exercised.

Goodwill. For acquisitions, goodwill represents the excess  
of the consideration transferred over the fair values assigned 
to the identifiable assets proportionally acquired and liabilities 
assumed. Goodwill is accounted for at the subsidiaries  
in the functional currency of those subsidiaries.

In connection with obtaining control, non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree is principally recognized at the proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, which are measured 
at fair value. 

Other intangible assets. Intangible assets acquired are  
measured at cost less accumulated amortization. If necessary, 
accumulated impairment losses are recognized. 

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are reviewed annually  
to determine whether indefinite-life assessment continues  
to be appropriate. If not, the change in the useful-life assessment 
from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets other than development costs with finite  
useful lives are generally amortized on a straight-line basis over 
their useful lives (three to ten years) and are tested for impair-
ment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset 
may be impaired. The amortization period for intangible  
assets with finite useful lives is reviewed at least at each year-
end. Changes in expected useful lives are treated as changes  
in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible 
assets with finite useful lives is recorded in functional costs.

Development costs for vehicles and components are recognized 
if the conditions for capitalization according to IAS 38 are met. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is carried at cost less 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment 
losses. Capitalized development costs include all direct costs 
and allocable overheads and are amortized on a straight-line 
basis over the expected product life cycle (a maximum of ten 
years). Amortization of capitalized development costs is  
an element of manufacturing costs and is allocated to those 
vehicles and components by which they were generated and  
is included in cost of sales when the inventory (vehicles) is sold.
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Property, plant and equipment. Property, plant and equip-
ment are measured at acquisition or manufacturing costs  
less accumulated depreciation. If necessary, accumulated 
impairment losses are recognized. 

The costs of internally produced equipment and facilities 
include all direct costs and allocable overheads. Acquisition  
or manufacturing costs include the estimated costs, if any,  
of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site. 
Plant and equipment under finance leases are stated at the 
lower of present value of minimum lease payments or fair value 
less the respective accumulated depreciation and any accu-
mulated impairment losses. Depreciation expense is recognized 
using the straight-line method. The residual value of the asset  
is considered. 

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over the useful 
lives as shown in table  F.12.

Leasing. Leasing includes all arrangements that transfer  
the right to use a specified asset for a stated period of time  
in return for a payment, even if the right to use such asset  
is not explicitly described in an arrangement. The Group is a 
lessee of property, plant and equipment and a lessor of its 
products. It is evaluated on the basis of the risks and rewards 
of a leased asset whether the ownership of the leased asset  
is attributed to the lessee (finance lease) or to the lessor (oper-
ating lease). Rent expense on operating leases by which  
the Group is lessee is recognized over the respective lease terms 
on a straight-line basis. Equipment on operating leases by which 
the Group is lessor is carried initially at its acquisition or manu-
facturing costs and is depreciated to its expected residual values 
over the contractual term of the lease, on a straight-line basis. 
The same accounting principles apply to assets if Daimler sells 
such assets and leases them back from the buyer.

Impairment of non-current non-financial assets. Daimler 
assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication 
that an asset may be impaired. If such indication exists,  
Daimler estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. The 
recoverable amount is determined for each individual asset 
unless the asset generates cash inflows that are not largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets 
(cash-generating units). In addition, goodwill and other intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives are tested annually for 
impairment; this takes place at the level of the cash-generating 
units. If the carrying amount of an asset or of a cash- 
generating unit exceeds the recoverable amount, an impair-
ment loss is recognized for the difference. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs  
of disposal and value in use. For cash-generating units, which 
at Daimler correspond to the reportable segments, Daimler  
in a first step determines the respective recoverable amount 
as value in use and compares it with the respective carrying 
amount (including goodwill). Value in use is measured by  
discounting expected future cash flows from the continuing use 
of the cash-generating units using a risk-adjusted interest  
rate. Future cash flows are determined on the basis of the long-
term planning, which is approved by the Board of Manage-
ment and which is valid at the date when the impairment test 

is conducted. This planning is based on expectations regard-
ing future market share, the growth of the respective markets  
as well as the products’ profitability. The multi-year planning 
comprises a planning horizon until 2020 and therefore  
mainly covers the product life cycles of our automotive business. 
The rounded risk-adjusted interest rates used to discount  
cash flows, which are calculated for each segment, are currently 
unchanged from the previous year at 8% after taxes for the 
cash-generating units of the industrial business and 9% after 
taxes for Daimler Financial Services. Whereas the discount 
rate for Daimler Financial Services represents the cost of equity, 
the risk-adjusted interest rate for the cash-generating units  
of the industrial business is based on the weighted average cost 
of capital (WACC). These are calculated based on the capital 
asset pricing model (CAPM) taking into account current market 
expectations. In calculating the risk-adjusted interest rate  
for impairment test purposes, specific peer group information 
for beta factors, capital structure data and cost of debt are 
used. Periods not covered by the forecast are taken into account 
by recognizing a residual value (terminal value), which gener-
ally does not consider any growth rates. In addition, several sensi-
tivity analyses are conducted. These show that even in case  
of more unfavorable premises for main influencing factors with 
respect to the original planning, no need for impairment exists. 
If value in use is lower than the carrying amount, fair value  
less costs of disposal is additionally calculated to determine 
the recoverable amount.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Buildings and site improvements 10 to 50 years

Technical equipment and machinery 6 to 25 years

Other equipment, factory and office equipment 3 to 30 years

F.12
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An assessment for assets other than goodwill is made at  
each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that 
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer  
exist or may have decreased. If this is the case, Daimler records 
a partial or entire reversal of the impairment; the carrying 
amount is thereby increased to its recoverable amount. However, 
the increased carrying amount may not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation) 
had no impairment loss been recognized in prior years. 

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups.  
The Group classifies non-current assets or disposal groups  
as held for sale if the conditions of IFRS 5 Non-current assets 
held for sale and discontinued operations are fulfilled. In this 
case, the assets or disposal groups are no longer depreciated 
but measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value  
less costs to sell. If fair value less costs to sell subsequently 
increases, any impairment loss previously recognized  
is reversed, this reversal is restricted to the impairment loss  
previously recognized for the assets or disposal group con-
cerned. The Group generally discloses these assets or disposal 
groups separately in the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

Inventories. Inventories are measured at the lower of cost  
and net realizable value. The net realizable value is the estimated 
selling price less any remaining costs to sell. The cost of  
inventories is generally based on the specific identification 
method and includes costs incurred in acquiring the inven-
tories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. 
Costs for large numbers of inventories that are interchange-
able are allocated under the average cost formula. In the case 
of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost  
also includes production overheads based on normal capacity.

Financial instruments. A financial instrument is any contract 
that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial  
liability or equity instrument of another entity. Financial instru-
ments in the form of financial assets and financial liabilities  
are generally presented separately. Financial instruments are 
recognized as soon as Daimler becomes a party to the contrac-
tual provisions of the financial instrument.

Upon initial recognition, financial instruments are measured  
at fair value. For the purpose of subsequent measurement, 
financial instruments are allocated to one of the categories 
mentioned in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. Transaction costs directly attributable to acqui-
sition or issuance are considered by determining the carrying 
amount if the financial instruments are not measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. If the transaction date and the settle-
ment date (i.e. the date of delivery) differ, Daimler uses the trans-
action date for purposes of initial recognition or derecognition.

Financial assets. Financial assets primarily comprise  
receivables from financial services, trade receivables,  
receivables from banks, cash on hand, derivative financial 
assets and marketable securities and investments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss include those financial 
assets designated as held for trading. 

Derivatives, including embedded derivatives separated from 
the host contract, which are not classified as hedging instru-
ments in hedge accounting, as well as shares and marketable 
debt securities acquired for the purpose of selling in the near 
term are classified as held for trading. Gains or losses on these 
financial assets are recognized in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that  
are not quoted in an active market, such as receivables from 
financial services or trade receivables. After initial recognition, 
loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method less any impairment 
losses. Gains and losses are recognized in the statement  
of income when the loans and receivables are impaired or derec-
ognized. Interest effects on the application of the effective 
interest method are also recognized in profit or loss.
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Available-for-sale financial assets. Available-for-sale financial 
assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated 
as available for sale or that are not classified in any of the  
preceding categories. This category includes equity instruments 
and debt instruments such as government bonds, corporate 
bonds and commercial paper.

After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial assets 
are measured at fair value, with unrealized gains or losses being 
recognized in other comprehensive income/loss. If objective  
evidence of impairment exists or if changes occur in the fair value 
of a debt instrument resulting from currency fluctuations, 
these changes are recognized in profit or loss. Upon disposal 
of financial assets, the accumulated gains and losses recog-
nized in other comprehensive income/loss resulting from mea-
surement at fair value are recognized in profit or loss. If a reli-
able estimate cannot be made of the fair value of an unquoted 
equity instrument, such as an investment in a German limited 
liability company, this instrument is measured at cost (less any 
impairment losses). Interest earned on available-for-sale  
financial assets is generally reported as interest income using 
the effective interest method. Dividends are recognized in 
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.

Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist 
primarily of cash on hand, checks and demand deposits at 
banks, as well as debt instruments and certificates of deposits 
with a remaining term when acquired of up to three months, 
which are not subject to any material value fluctuations. Cash 
and cash equivalents correspond with the classification  
in the consolidated statement of cash flows. 

Impairment of financial assets. At each reporting date, the 
carrying amounts of financial assets other than those to be mea-
sured at fair value through profit or loss are assessed to  
determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. 
Objective evidence may exist for example if a debtor is facing 
serious financial difficulties or there is a substantial change in 
the debtor’s technological, economic, legal or market environ-
ment. For quoted equity instruments, a significant or prolonged 
decline in fair value is additional objective evidence of possible 
impairment. Daimler has defined criteria for the significance and 
duration of a decline in fair value. A decline in fair value is 
deemed significant if it exceeds 20% of the carrying amount 
of the investment; a decline is deemed prolonged if the  
carrying amount exceeds the fair value for a period longer  
than nine months.

Loans and receivables. If there are objective indications that 
the value of a loan or receivable has been impaired, the 
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the carrying amount of the asset and the present 
value of expected future cash flows (excluding expected future 
credit losses that have not yet been incurred), discounted  
at the original effective interest rate of the financial asset.  
The amount of the impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent reporting period, the amount of the impair-
ment loss decreases and the decrease can be attributed  
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was  
recognized, the impairment loss recorded in prior periods  
is reversed and recognized in profit or loss.

In most cases, an impairment loss on loans and receivables 
(e.g. receivables from financial services including finance  
lease receivables and trade receivables) is recorded using allow-
ance accounts. The decision to account for credit risks using 
an allowance account or by directly reducing the receivable 
depends on the estimated probability of the loss of receivables. 

Available-for-sale financial assets. If an available-for-sale  
financial asset is impaired, the difference between its cost  
(net of any principal payment and amortization) and its  
current fair value (less any impairment loss previously recog-
nized in the statement of income) is reclassified from other 
comprehensive income/loss to the statement of income. Rever-
sals with respect to equity instruments classified as available  
for sale are recognized in other comprehensive income/loss. 
Reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments are 
reversed through the statement of income if the increase in fair 
value of the instrument can be objectively attributed to an 
event occurring after the impairment losses were recognized  
in the consolidated statement of income.

Offsetting financial instruments. Financial assets and  
financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented 
in the consolidated statement of financial position provided 
that an enforceable right currently exists to offset the amounts 
involved, and there is an intention either to carry out the  
offsetting on a net basis or to settle a liability when the related 
asset is sold.
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Financial liabilities. Financial liabilities primarily include  
trade payables, liabilities to banks, bonds, derivative financial 
liabilities and other liabilities.

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost. After initial  
recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured  
at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial 
liabilities held for trading. Derivatives, (including embedded 
derivatives separated from the host contract) which are not 
used as hedging instruments in hedge accounting, are classified 
as held for trading. Gains or losses on liabilities held for  
trading are recognized in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting.  
The Group uses derivative financial instruments exclusively  
for hedging financial risks that arise from its commercial  
business or refinancing activities. These are mainly interest 
rate risks, currency risks and commodity price risks.

Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract, 
which is not measured at fair value through profit or loss,  
if an analysis shows that the economic characteristics and risks 
of embedded derivatives are not closely related to those  
of the host contract.

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value 
upon initial recognition and at each subsequent reporting date. 
The fair value of listed derivatives is equal to their positive  
or negative market value. If a market value is not available, fair 
value is calculated using standard financial valuation models 
such as discounted cash flow or option pricing models. Deriva-
tives are presented as assets if their fair value is positive  
and as liabilities if the fair value is negative.

If the requirements for hedge accounting set out in IAS 39 are 
met, Daimler designates and documents the hedge relation-
ship from the date a derivative contract is entered into as a fair 
value hedge, a cash flow hedge or a hedge of a net investment  
in a foreign business operation. In a fair value hedge, the fair value 
of a recognized asset or liability or an unrecognized firm com-
mitment is hedged. In a cash flow hedge, the variability of cash 
flows to be received or paid from expected transactions 
related to a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable 
forecast transaction are hedged. The documentation of the 
hedging relationship includes the objectives and strategy of risk 
management, the type of hedging relationship, the nature  
of the risk being hedged, the identification of the hedging instru-
ment and the hedged item, as well as a description of the 
method used to assess hedge effectiveness. Hedging transac-
tions are expected to be highly effective in achieving offset-
ting risks from changes in fair value or cash flows and are regu-
larly assessed to determine that they have actually been  
highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods 
for which they are designated.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments  
are recognized periodically in either profit or loss or other com-
prehensive income/loss, depending on whether the derivative  
is designated as a hedge of changes in fair value or cash flows. 
For fair value hedges, changes in the fair value of the hedged 
item and the derivative are recognized in profit or loss. For cash 
flow hedges, fair value changes in the effective portion of  
the hedging instrument are recognized in other comprehensive 
income/loss. Amounts recognized in other comprehensive 
income/loss are reclassified to the statement of income when 
the hedged transaction affects the statement of income.  
The ineffective portions of fair value changes are recognized  
in profit or loss. 

If derivative financial instruments do not or no longer qualify 
for hedge accounting because the qualifying criteria for  
hedge accounting are not or are no longer met, the derivative 
financial instruments are classified as held for trading and  
are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Pensions and similar obligations. The measurement of 
defined benefit plans for pensions and other post-employment 
benefits (medical care) in accordance with IAS 19 Employee 
Benefits is based on the projected unit credit method. Plan assets 
invested to cover defined pension benefit obligations and  
other post-employment benefit obligations (medical care) are 
measured at fair value and offset against the corresponding 
obligations. For the valuation of defined post-employment bene-
fit plans, differences between actuarial assumptions used  
and actual developments as well as changes in actuarial assump-
tions result in actuarial gains and losses, which have a direct 
impact on the consolidated statement of financial position or 
on the consolidated statement of income.

The balance of defined benefit plans for pensions and other 
post-employment benefits and plan assets (net pension  
obligation or net pension assets) accrues interest at the discount 
rate used as a basis for the measurement of the gross pension 
obligation. The resulting net interest expense or income is recog-
nized in profit and loss under interest expense or interest 
income in the consolidated statement of income. The other 
expenses resulting from pension obligations and other post-
employment benefit obligations (medical care), which mainly 
result from entitlements acquired during the year under  
review, are taken into consideration in the functional costs  
in the consolidated statement of income. 
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The discount factors used to calculate the present values  
of defined benefit pension obligations are to be determined  
by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting  
period on high-quality corporate bonds in the respective markets. 
For very long maturities, there are no high-quality corporate 
bonds available as a benchmark. The respective discount factors 
are estimated by extrapolating current market rates along  
the yield curve. 

Gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined 
benefit plan are recognized when the curtailment or settlement 
occurs. 

Provisions for other risks and contingent liabilities.  
A provision is recognized when a liability to third parties has 
been incurred, an outflow of resources is probable and  
the amount of the obligation can be reasonably estimated.  
The amount recognized as a provision represents the best  
estimate of the obligation at the balance sheet date. Provisions 
with an original maturity of more than one year are discounted  
to the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the 
obligation at the end of the reporting period. Provisions  
are regularly reviewed and adjusted as further information 
becomes available or circumstances change.

A provision for expected warranty costs is recognized when  
a product is sold, upon lease inception, or when a new  
warranty program is initiated. Estimates for accrued warranty 
costs are primarily based on historical experience.

Daimler records the fair value of an asset retirement obligation 
from the period in which the obligation is incurred. 

Restructuring provisions are set up in connection with programs 
that materially change the scope of business performed  
by a segment or business unit or the manner in which business 
is conducted. In most cases, restructuring expenses include 
termination benefits and compensation payments due to the 
termination of agreements with suppliers and dealers.  
Restructuring provisions are recognized when the Group has  
a detailed formal plan that has either commenced imple-
mentation or been announced.

Share-based payment. Share-based payment comprises 
cash-settled liability awards and equity-settled equity awards.

The fair value of equity awards is generally determined by 
using a modified Black-Scholes option pricing model at grant 
date and represents the total payment expense to be recog-
nized during the service period with a corresponding increase 
in equity (paid-in capital).

Liability awards are measured at fair value at each balance 
sheet date until settlement and are classified as provisions.  
The expense of the period comprises the addition to and/or 
the reversal of the provision between two balance sheet  
dates and the dividend equivalent paid during the period, and  
is included in the functional costs.

Presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows. 
Interest paid as well as interest and dividends received are 
classified as cash provided by/used for operating activities. 
The cash flows from short-term marketable debt securities 
with high turnover rates and significant amounts are offset and 
presented within cash used for investing activities.

2. Accounting estimates and assessments

In the consolidated financial statements, to a certain degree, 
estimates, assessments and assumptions have to be made 
which can affect the amounts and reporting of assets and liabili-
ties, the reporting of contingent assets and liabilities on the  
balance sheet date and the amounts of income and expense 
reported for the period. The major items affected by such  
estimates, assessments and assumptions are described as  
follows. Actual amounts may differ from the estimates. 
Changes in the estimates, assessments and assumptions can 
have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

Recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and invest-
ments accounted for using the equity method. In the  
context of impairment tests for non-financial assets, estimates 
have to be made to determine the recoverable amounts of 
cash-generating units. Assumptions have to be made in partic-
ular with regard to future cash inflows and outflows for the 
planning period and the following periods. The estimates include 
assumptions regarding future market share and the growth  
of the respective markets as well as regarding the products’ 
profitability. On the basis of the impairment tests carried  
out in 2013, the recoverable amounts are substantially larger 
than the net assets of the Group’s cash-generating units.
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When objective evidence of impairment is present, estimates 
and assessments also have to be made to determine the  
recoverable amount of an equity method financial investment. 
The determination of the recoverable amount is based on 
assumptions regarding future business developments for the 
determination of the expected future cash flows of that financial 
investment. See Note 13 for the presentation of carrying  
values and fair values of equity-method financial investments 
in listed companies. 

Equipment on operating leases. Daimler regularly reviews 
the factors determining the values of its leased vehicles.  
In particular, it is necessary to estimate the residual values  
of vehicles at the end of their leases, which constitute a  
substantial part of the expected future cash flows from leased 
assets. In this context, assumptions have to be made regarding 
the future supply of and demand for vehicles, as well as the 
development of vehicle prices. Those assumptions are determined 
either by qualified estimates or by expertise provided by third 
parties; qualified estimates are based, as far as they are publicly 
available, on external data with consideration of internally 
available additional information such as historical experience 
of price developments and recent sale prices. The residual  
values thus determined serve as a basis for systematic depre-
ciation; changes in residual values lead either to prospective 
adjustments to the systematic depreciation or, in the case of a 
significant drop in expected residual values, to impairment.  
If systematic depreciation is prospectively adjusted, changes 
in estimates of residual values do not have a direct effect but  
are equally distributed over the remaining periods of the lease 
contracts. 

Collectability of receivables from financial services.  
The Group regularly estimates the risk of default on receivables 
from financial services. Many factors are taken into consid-
eration in this context, including historical loss experience,  
the size and composition of certain portfolios, current economic 
events and conditions and the estimated fair values and ade-
quacy of collateral. Changes in economic conditions can lead 
to changes in our customers’ creditworthiness and to changes  
in used vehicle prices, which would have a direct effect on the 
market values of the vehicles assigned as collateral. Changes  
to the estimation and assessment of these factors influence the 
allowance for credit losses with a resulting impact on the 
Group’s net profit. See also Notes 14 and 32 for further infor-
mation. 

Product warranties. The recognition and measurement  
of provisions for product warranties is generally connected 
with estimates. 

The Group provides various types of product warranties depend-
ing on the type of product and market conditions. Provisions  
for product warranties are generally recognized when vehicles 
are sold, upon lease inception, or when new warranty pro-
grams are initiated. Based on historical warranty claim experi-
ence, assumptions have to be made on the type and extent  
of future warranty claims and customer goodwill, as well as  
on possible recall or buyback campaigns for each model 
series. In addition, the estimates also include assumptions  
on the amounts of potential repair costs per vehicle and  
the effects of possible time or mileage limits. The provisions 
are regularly adjusted to reflect new information. 

Further information on provisions for other risks is provided  
in Note 23.

Legal proceedings. Various legal proceedings, claims and 
governmental investigations are pending against Daimler AG 
and its subsidiaries on a wide range of topics. Adverse  
decisions in one or more of those proceedings could require  
us to pay substantial compensatory and punitive damages  
or to undertake service actions, recall campaigns or other costly 
actions. Litigation and governmental investigations often 
involve complex legal issues and are connected with a high 
degree of uncertainty. Accordingly, the assessment of whether 
an obligation exists on the balance sheet date as a result  
of an event in the past, and whether a future cash outflow is likely 
and the obligation can be reliably estimated, largely depends 
on estimations by the management. Daimler regularly evaluates 
the current stage of legal proceedings, also with the involve-
ment of external legal counsel. It is therefore possible that the 
amounts of provisions for pending or potential litigation  
will have to be adjusted due to future developments. Changes 
in estimates and premises can have a material effect on  
the Group’s future profitability. The end of a legal dispute can 
result in Daimler having to make payments in excess of the 
provisions recognized for that purpose. It is also possible that 
the outcome of individual cases for which no provisions could  
be recognized might force the Group to make payments whose 
amounts or range of amounts could not be reliably estimated  
at December 31, 2013. Although the final outcome of such cases 
can have a material effect on Daimler’s earnings or cash  
flows in a certain reporting period, in our assessment, any such 
resulting obligations will not have a sustained impact on  
the Group’s financial position. Further information on legal  
proceedings is provided in Note 29. 
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Pension obligations. The calculation of provisions for  
pensions and similar obligations and the related pension cost 
are based on various mathematical models. The calculations  
are subject to various assumptions on matters such as current 
actuarially developed probabilities (e.g. discount factors and 
cost-of-living increases), future fluctuations with regard to age 
and period of service, and experience with the probability  
of occurrence of pension payments, annuities or lump sums. 
As a result of changed market or economic conditions, the 
probabilities on which the influencing factors are based, may 
differ from current developments. The financial effects  
of deviations of the main factors are calculated with the use  
of sensitivity analyses. See Note 22 for further information.

Income taxes. The calculation of income taxes of Daimler AG 
and its subsidiaries is based on the legislation and regulations 
applicable in the various countries. Due to their complexity, the 
tax items presented in the financial statements are possibly 
subject to different interpretation by taxpayers on the one hand 
and local tax authorities on the other. For the calculation  
of deferred tax assets, assumptions have to be made regarding 
future taxable income and the time of realization of the 
deferred tax assets. In this context, we take into consideration, 
among other things, the projected earnings from business 
operations, the effects on earnings of the reversal of taxable 
temporary differences, and realizable tax strategies. As future 
business developments are uncertain and are sometimes 
beyond Daimler’s control, the assumptions to be made in connec-
tion with accounting for deferred tax assets are connected  
with a substantial degree of uncertainty. On each balance sheet 
date, Daimler carries out impairment tests on deferred tax 
assets on the basis of the planned taxable income in future 
financial years; if Daimler assesses that the probability  
of future tax advantages being partially or fully unrealized  
is more than 50%, the deferred tax assets are impaired.  
Further information is provided in Note 9. 

3. Significant acquisitions and dispositions of interests in 
companies and of other assets and liabilities

Acquisitions

BAIC Motor. In 2013, BAIC Motor Corporation Ltd. (BAIC 
Motor) issued new shares to Daimler representing a 12% equity 
interest for a price of €627 million (including transaction 
costs). The investment in BAIC Motor is presented in the consoli-
dated financial statements according to the equity method.  
At the same time, BAIC Motor increased its share of the joint 
venture Beijing Benz Automotive Co., Ltd. (BBAC) by 1%  
to 51%; Daimler increased its share of the jointly owned sales 
company Beijing Mercedes-Benz Sales Service Co., Ltd.  
also by 1% to 51%. See Notes 13 and 36 for further information 
on these transactions.

Disposals

EADS. The disposal of our shareholding in the European  
Aeronautic Defence and Space Company EADS N.V.  
(since January 2, 2014: Airbus Group N.V.) and the loss of signi-
ficant influence on that company is explained in Note 13.  

MBtech Group. In December 2011, Daimler and AKKA  
Technologies SA signed a contract on the sale of a 65% interest 
in the former Daimler subsidiary MBtech Group GmbH & Co. 
KGaA (MBtech Group). The transaction was concluded on April 12, 
2012 and resulted in a cash inflow of €48 million and a  
gain before income taxes of €10 million in 2012. These amounts 
are primarily allocated to the Mercedes-Benz Cars segment. 
The remaining equity interest in MBtech Group is accounted for 
using the equity method. At the time of the transaction, the 
assets and liabilities of MBtech Group amounted to €85 million 
and €78 million respectively; the total amount of assets 
included cash and cash equivalents of €8 million. 
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4. Revenue

Table  F.13 shows the composition of revenue at Group level.

Revenue by segment  F.92 and region  F.94 is presented  
in Note 33.

5. Functional costs

Cost of sales. Items included in cost of sales are shown  
in table  F.14.

Amortization expense of capitalized development costs  
in the amount of €1,134 million (2012: €982 million) is presented 
in expense of goods sold.

Selling expenses. In 2013, selling expenses amounted  
to €10,875 million (2012: €10,455 million). Selling expenses 
include direct selling costs as well as selling overhead expenses 
and consist of personnel expenses, material costs and other 
selling costs.

General administrative expenses. General administrative 
expenses amounted to €3,865 million in 2013 (2012: €3,974  
million) and comprise expenses which were not attributable  
to production, sales or research and development functions,  
and include personnel expenses, depreciation and amortization 
on fixed and intangible assets, and other administrative costs.

Research and non-capitalized development costs.  
Research and non-capitalized development costs were €4,101 
million in 2013 (2012: €4,179 million) and primarily comprise 
personnel expenses and material costs.

Optimization programs. Measures and programs with imple-
mentation costs that materially impacted EBIT of the segments 
are briefly described below.

Daimler Trucks. At the end of January 2013, Daimler Trucks 
announced workforce adjustments as part of its goal of increas-
ing its profitability by stronger utilization of scale effects.  
In the administrative sector in Brazil a voluntary redundancy 
program was launched in the first quarter of 2013 targeting  
a reduction of approximately 850 people (including Daimler 
Buses). Furthermore, in non-productive areas in Germany,  
a reduction of approximately 800 people is planned for which  
a program was started in May 2013, based on socially accept-
able voluntary measures.

Revenue

2013 2012

In millions of euros

Sales of goods 103,594 100,531

Rental and leasing business 10,966 10,166

Interest from the financial services  
business at Daimler Financial Services

 
3,040

 
3,224

Sales of other services 382 376

117,982 114,297

F.13

Cost of sales

2013 2012

In millions of euros

Expense of goods sold -82,979 -80,617

Depreciation of equipment on operating leases -4,376 -3,813

Refinancing costs at  
Daimler Financial Services

 
-1,578

 
-1,861

Impairment losses on receivables from  
financial services

 
-416

 
-390

Other cost of sales -3,108 -2,140

-92,457 -88,821

F.14
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Daimler Buses. In 2012, Daimler Buses decided to restructure 
some sections of its business system to improve efficiency  
and generate growth in order to increase its market shares for 
buses in Western Europe, to adapt the product portfolios  
to changed market requirements and to reduce costs. These 
measures also included a reduction of up to 10% of the  
workforce in Western Europe. The activities of Daimler Buses 
in North America were already restructured in 2012. In this  
context, the production of Orion city buses was discontinued 
and the workforce was scaled down by approximately 900 
employees. In addition, further optimization measures were  
initiated in non-productive areas in Brazil for which the  
voluntary severance program described under Daimler Trucks 
was started in the first quarter of 2013.
 
Table  F.15 shows the expenses related to the optimization 
programs which affected the EBIT of the segments. The cash 
flows associated with the implementation of the programs are 
also shown.

These expenses primarily relate to personnel measures  
and are included in the line items within the consolidated 
statement of income as shown in table  F.16. 

The provisions recognized for the measures at Daimler Trucks 
amounted to €64 million as of December 31, 2013. At Daimler 
Buses, the provisions recognized for the measures amounted 
to €36 million as of December 31, 2013 (€58 million as of 
December 31, 2012). 

Cash outflows resulting from the optimization programs  
are expected until the end of 2017, whereby the largest part  
of the payments will already occur in 2014.

For the optimization programs at Daimler Trucks, the Group 
anticipates further expenses of up to €150 million. 
 
Personnel expenses and number of employees. Personnel 
expenses included in the consolidated statement of income  
as well as the average numbers of people employed are included 
in table  F.17. 

Information on the remuneration of the current and former 
members of the Board of Management and the current  
members of the Supervisory Board is included in Note 37. 

F.16
Income and expenses associated with optimization programs  
at Daimler Trucks and Daimler Buses

2013 2012

In millions of euros

Cost of sales -71 -72

Selling expenses -14 -30

General administrative expenses -50 -17

Research and non-capitalized  
development costs

 
-13

 
-19

Other operating expenses -10 -17

Other operating income 3 –

-155 -155

Personnel expenses and number of employees

2013 2012

In millions of euros and 
number of people employed

Personnel expenses1 -18,753 -18,002

Average number of people employed

Mercedes-Benz Cars 97,003 98,218

Daimler Trucks 80,186 80,503

Mercedes-Benz Vans 15,073 14,904

Daimler Buses 16,557 17,186

Daimler Financial Services 7,937 7,526

Sales and Marketing 52,151 50,154

Other 6,477 6,114

275,384 274,605

1  See Note 1 for details of adjustments to the prior-year figures. 

F.17

F.15
Optimization programs

2013 2012

In millions of euros

Daimler Trucks

EBIT -116 –

Cash outflow -50 –

Daimler Buses

EBIT -39 -155

Cash outflow -39 -28
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6. Other operating income and expense

For the composition of other operating income see table 
 F.18.

Income from services recharged to unrelated parties includes 
income from licenses and patents, shipping costs charged  
to third parties and other costs charged to third parties, with 
related expenses primarily within the functional costs. 

Government grants and subsidies mainly comprise reimburse-
ments relating to current part-time early retirement contracts 
and subsidies for alternative drive systems. 

Other miscellaneous income includes reimbursements  
of non-income related taxes, income from the operation  
of employee canteens and other miscellaneous items. 

For the composition of other operating expense, see table 
 F.19.

Other miscellaneous expense includes losses from disposals  
of current assets, changes in other provisions partially in connec-
tion with legal proceedings, and other miscellaneous items.

7. Other financial expense, net 

Table  F.20 shows the components of other financial 
expense, net.

Other financial expense, net includes a loss of €140 million  
on the sale of the remaining EADS shares in 2013. See Note 13 
for detailed information on the sale of the EADS shares. 

8. Interest income and interest expense

Table  F.21 shows the components of interest income  
and interest expense.

Other operating income

2013 2012

In millions of euros

Income from costs recharged to third parties 840 727

Government grants and subsidies 86 90

Gains on sales of property, plant and equipment 47 122

Rental income, other than income relating  
to financial services

 
45

 
44

Reimbursements under insurance policies 26 44

Other miscellaneous income 486 480

1,530 1,507

F.18

Other operating expense

2013 2012

In millions of euros

Loss on sales of property, plant and equipment -88 -67

Other miscellaneous expense -311 -224

-399 -291

F.19

Other financial expense, net

2013 2012

In millions of euros

Expense from compounding of provisions and 
effects of changes in discount rates1

 
-95

 
-504

Miscellaneous other financial  
expense/income, net

 
-254

 
42

-349 -462

1   Excluding the expense from compounding provisions for pensions and 
similar obligations.

F.20

Interest income and interest expense

2013 2012

In millions of euros

Interest income

Net interest income on the net asset from 
defined benefit pension plans

 
2

 
7

Interest and similar income 210 226

212 233

Interest expense

Net interest expense on the net obligation  
from defined benefit pension plans

 
-355

 
-346

Interest and similar expense -529 -591

-884 -937

F.21
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9. Income taxes

Profit before income taxes is comprised as shown  
in table  F.22.

Profit before income taxes in Germany includes the share  
of profit/loss from investments accounted for using the equity 
method if the shares of those companies are held by German 
companies. 

Table  F.23 shows the components of income taxes.

The current tax expense includes tax benefits at German  
and foreign companies of €1,038 million (2012: €1,164 million) 
recognized for prior periods.

The deferred tax expense is comprised of the components  
in table  F.24.

For German companies, in 2013 and 2012, deferred taxes  
were calculated using a federal corporate tax rate of 15%,  
a solidarity tax surcharge of 5.5% on each year’s federal cor-
porate taxes, plus a trade tax of 14%. In total, the tax rate 
applied for the calculation of German deferred taxes in both 
years amounted to 29.825%. For non-German companies,  
the deferred taxes at period-end were calculated using the tax 
rates of the respective countries.

Table  F.25 includes a reconciliation of expected income  
tax expense to actual income tax expense determined using 
the applicable German combined statutory rate of 29.825% 
(2012: 29.825%).

In 2013 and 2012, the Group released valuation allowances  
on deferred tax assets of foreign subsidiaries. The resulting 
tax benefits are included in the line item “Change of valuation 
allowance on deferred tax assets”.

Profit before income taxes

2013 2012

In millions of euros

German companies 5,630 3,778

Non-German companies 4,509 4,338

10,139 8,116

F.22

Components of income taxes

2013 2012

In millions of euros

Current taxes

German companies 202 353

Non-German companies -1,007 -540

Deferred taxes

German companies -180 -514

Non-German companies -434 -585

-1,419 -1,286

F.23

Components of deferred tax expense

2013 2012

In millions of euros

Deferred taxes -614 -1,099

due to temporary differences -710 -2,894

due to tax loss carryforwards and tax credits 96 1,795

F.24

Reconciliation of expected income tax expense to actual income tax

2013 2012

In millions of euros

Expected income tax expense -3,024 -2,421

Foreign tax rate differential -51 -128

Trade tax rate differential 54 12

Tax law changes -10 -13

Change of valuation allowance  
on deferred tax assets

 
143

 
283

Tax-free income and non-deductible expenses 1,546 1,002

Other -77 -21

Actual income tax expense -1,419 -1,286

F.25
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Tax-free income and non-deductible expenses include all other 
effects at foreign and German companies relating to tax-free 
income and non-deductible expenses, for instance tax-free gains 
included in net periodic pension costs at the German com-
panies and tax-free results of our equity-method investments. 
Moreover, in 2013 and 2012, the line item also includes  
tax-free gains realized on the sale and remeasurement of EADS 
shares and tax benefits relating to tax assessments for prior 
years. The tax benefits relating to tax assessments for prior years 
consist of the current tax benefits recognized for prior periods 
as well as partly offsetting deferred tax expenses recognized 
for prior periods. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset  
if the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority and if there is the right  
to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities. In the 
presentation of deferred tax assets and liabilities in the con-
solidated statement of financial position, no difference is made 
between current and non-current. In the consolidated state-
ment of financial position, deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are presented as shown in table  F.26.

In respect of each type of temporary difference and in respect 
of each type of unutilized tax losses and unutilized tax  
credits, the deferred tax assets and liabilities before offset  
are summarized in table  F.27.

The development of deferred tax assets, net, is shown  
in table  F.28.

Including the items recognized in other comprehensive 
income/loss (including items from investments accounted  
for using the equity method), the expense for income taxes  
is comprised as shown in table  F.29.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the valua-
tion allowances on deferred tax assets, which are mainly 
attributable to foreign companies, decreased by €1,256 million 
compared to December 31, 2012. On the one hand, this is  
a result of the reversal of valuation allowances of €143 million 
recorded in net profit. On the other hand, the capital losses 
resulting from the sale of the former investment in Chrysler were 
utilized. At December 31, 2012 the deferred tax assets on 
those capital losses were completely offset by a valuation allow-
ance because the losses have a limited carryforward period 
and can only be offset by gains on disposal of capital. In 2013, 
as a result of intercompany sales, gains on disposal of capital 
were realized and the capital loss in the amount of €2,161 million 
was used. Because the Group did not recognize deferred tax 
liabilities on retained earnings of non-German subsidiaries as 
these earnings are intended to be permanently reinvested  
in those operations, no significant impact on earnings resulted 
from the intercompany sale. Additionally, a decrease of the  
valuation allowance was recognized in equity due to the expira-
tion of tax loss carryforwards, which were already adjusted  
by a valuation allowance at December 31, 2012 and due to trans-
lation effects. 

F.26 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities

At December 31,
2013 2012

In millions of euros

Deferred tax assets 1,829 2,733

Deferred tax liabilities -892 -268

Deferred tax assets, net 937 2,465

Split of tax assets and liabilities before offset

At December 31,
2013 2012

In millions of euros

Intangible assets 59 40

Property, plant and equipment 367 288

Equipment on operating leases 1,131 1,122

Inventories 603 729

Investments accounted for using the  
equity method

 
15

 
26

Receivables from financial services 275 280

Other financial assets 3,391 3,428

Tax loss and tax credit carryforwards 3,542 4,718

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 818 1,060

Other provisions 1,862 1,779

Liabilities 614 758

Deferred income 899 836

Other 292 279

13,868 15,343

Valuation allowances -1,081 -2,337

Deferred tax assets, gross 12,787 13,006

Development costs -2,195 -2,141

Other intangible assets -175 -135

Property, plant and equipment -1,442 -1,301

Equipment on operating leases -4,940 -4,294

Inventories -72 -50

Receivables from financial services -656 -672

Other financial assets -249 -172

Other assets -98 -125

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations -1,604 -1,288

Other provisions -159 -124

Other -260 -239

Deferred tax liabilities, gross -11,850 -10,541

Deferred tax assets, net 937 2,465

F.27
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The Group has various unresolved issues concerning open 
income tax years with the tax authorities in a number  
of jurisdictions. Daimler believes that it has recognized adequate 
provisions for any future income taxes that may be owed for  
all open tax years. As a result of future adjudications or changes 
in the opinions of the fiscal authorities, it cannot be ruled  
out that Daimler might receive tax refunds for previous years. 

At December 31, 2013, the valuation allowance on deferred  
tax assets relates, among other things, to tax loss carryfor-
wards in connection with capital losses (€193 million), corpo-
rate income tax loss carryforwards (€453 million) and tax 
credits (€17 million). The deferred tax assets on loss carryfor-
wards connected with capital losses were reduced to zero  
by valuation allowances because the carryforward periods  
of those losses are limited and can only be utilized with  
future capital gains. As of today, these are not expected to 
occur in the coming years. The capital losses expire in 2016. 
Deferred tax assets for corporate income tax loss carryfor-
wards adjusted by a valuation allowance relate with €116 million 
to tax loss carryforwards which expire at various dates from 
2016 through 2018, with €120 million to tax loss carryforwards 
which expire at various dates from 2019 through 2033 and  
with €217 million to tax loss carryforwards which can be carried 
forward indefinitely. Of the tax credit carryforwards adjusted  
by a valuation allowance, €11 million expire at various dates from 
2014 through 2018 and €6 million expire at various dates  
from 2019 through 2033. Furthermore, the valuation allowance 
primarily relates to temporary differences as well as net  
operating losses for state and local taxes at the US companies. 
Daimler believes that it is more likely than not that those 
deferred tax assets cannot be utilized. In 2013 and prior years, 
the Group had tax losses at several subsidiaries in several 
countries. After offsetting the deferred tax assets with deferred 
tax liabilities, the deferred tax assets not subject to valuation 
allowances amounted to €320 million for those foreign subsid-
iaries. Daimler believes it is more likely than not that due  
to future taxable income, deferred tax assets which are not 
subject to valuation allowances can be utilized. In future  
periods, Daimler’s estimate of the amount of deferred tax assets 
that is considered realizable may change, and hence the  
valuation allowances may increase or decrease. 

The cumulative undistributed earnings of non-German subsid-
iaries are largely intended to be reinvested in those operations. 
On retained earnings of non-German subsidiaries of €16,419 
million (2012: €15,484 million), the Group did not recognize 
deferred tax liabilities. If the dividends are paid out an amount 
of 5% of the dividends will be taxed under German taxation 
rules and, if applicable, with non-German withholding tax. Addi-
tionally, income tax consequences may arise if the dividends 
first have to be distributed by a non-German subsidiary to a non-
German holding company. Normally, the distribution would 
lead to an additional income tax expense. It is not practicable 
to estimate the amount of taxable temporary differences  
for these undistributed foreign earnings.

Change of deferred tax assets, net

2013 2012

In millions of euros

Deferred tax assets, net as of January 1 2,465 2,402

Deferred tax expense -614 -1,099

Change in deferred tax expense/benefit  
on financial assets available-for-sale included  
in other comprehensive income/loss

 
 

-6

 
 
.

Change in deferred tax expense/benefit  
on derivative financial instruments included  
in other comprehensive income/loss

 
 

-338

 
 

-287

Change in deferred tax expense/benefit
on actuarial gains/losses from defined benefit 
pension plans

 
 

-372

 
 

1,537

Other changes1 -198 -88

Deferred tax assets, net as of December 31 937 2,465

1  Primarily effects from currency translation.

F.28

Tax expense in equity

2013 2012

In millions of euros

Income tax expense -1,419 -1,286

Income tax expense/benefit  
recorded in other reserves

 
-772

 
1,335

-2,191 49

F.29
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10. Intangible assets

Intangible assets developed as shown in table  F.30.

At December 31, 2013, goodwill of €392 million (2012:  
€429 million) relates to the Daimler Trucks segment and €188 
million (2012: €197 million) relates to the Mercedes-Benz  
Cars segment.

Non-amortizable intangible assets primarily relate to goodwill 
and development costs for projects which have not yet been 
completed (carrying amount at December 31, 2013: €1,913  
million; carrying amount at December 31, 2012: €3,037 million).  
In addition, other intangible assets with a carrying amount  
at December 31, 2013 of €275 million (2012: €155 million)  
are not amortizable. Other non-amortizable intangible assets  
are trademarks with indefinite useful lifes, which relate  
to the Daimler Trucks segment as well as distribution rights  
of Mercedes-Benz Cars with indefinite useful lifes. The  
Group plans to continue to use these assets unchanged.

Intangible assets

 
 

Goodwill 
(acquired)

Development 
costs 

(internally 
generated)

 
Other intangible 

assets 
(acquired)

 
 
 

Total

In millions of euros

Acquisition or manufacturing costs

Balance at January 1, 2012 1,014 10,426 2,401 13,841

Additions due to business combinations – – – –

Other additions – 1,486 364 1,850

Reclassifications – – – –

Disposals – -568 -72 -640

Other changes1 -12 -25 -84 -121

Balance at December 31, 2012 1,002 11,319 2,609 14,930

Additions due to business combinations – – – –

Other additions – 1,301 682 1,983

Reclassifications – – – –

Disposals – -678 -123 -801

Other changes1 -61 -42 -139 -242

Balance at December 31, 2013 941 11,900 3,029 15,870

Amortization

Balance at January 1, 2012 278 3,767 1,537 5,582

Additions – 982 198 1,180

Reclassifications – – – –

Disposals – -565 -68 -633

Other changes1 -5 -25 -54 -84

Balance at December 31, 2012 273 4,159 1,613 6,045

Additions – 1,138 242 1,380

Reclassifications – – – –

Disposals – -667 -116 -783

Other changes1 -13 -40 -107 -160

Balance at December 31, 2013 260 4,590 1,632 6,482

Carrying amount at December 31, 2012 729 7,160 996 8,885

Carrying amount at December 31, 2013 681 7,310 1,397 9,388

1  Primarily changes from currency translation. 

F.30
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Table  F.31 shows the line items of the consolidated  
statement of income in which total amortization expense  
for intangible assets is included.

Intangible assets include capitalized borrowing costs  
on qualified assets according to IAS 23 which related only  
to capitalized development costs. In 2013, borrowing costs  
in the amount of €17 million (2012: €21 million) were capitalized; 
amortization amounted to €4 million (2012: €0 million).  
The base for the calculation of borrowing costs was an average 
cost of debt of 0.9% (2012: 1.5%).

Amortization expense for intangible assets  
in the consolidated statement of income

2013 2012

In millions of euros

Cost of sales 1,319 1,117

Selling expenses 30 32

General administrative expenses 25 26

Research and non-capitalized development costs 6 5

1,380 1,180

F.31

Property, plant and equipment

 
Land, leasehold 

improvements and 
buildings including 

buildings on land 
owned by others

 
 
 

Technical 
equipment 

and machinery

 
Other 

equipment,
 factory and

 office
 equipment

Advance  
payments  

relating to plant 
and equipment 

and construction 
in progress

 
 
 
 
 

Total

In millions of euros

Acquisition or manufacturing costs

Balance at January 1, 2012 14,752 20,070 19,001 1,898 55,721

Additions due to business combinations - - - - -

Other additions 312 944 1,656 1,913 4,825

Reclassifications 232 728 520 -1,480 -

Disposals -138 -784 -606 -18 -1,546

Other changes1 -217 -198 -289 -53 -757

Balance at December 31, 2012 14,941 20,760 20,282 2,260 58,243

Additions due to business combinations – – – – –

Other additions 218 1,181 1,853 1,833 5,085

Reclassifications 199 918 536 -1,666 -13

Disposals -76 -945 -700 -27 -1,748

Other changes1 -447 -339 -463 -127 -1,376

Balance at December 31, 2013 14,835 21,575 21,508 2,273 60,191

Depreciation

Balance at January 1, 2012 7,858 14,148 14,534 1 36,541

Additions 291 955 1,641 - 2,887

Reclassifications 1 1 -2 - -

Disposals -99 -744 -531 - -1,374

Other changes1 -83 -123 -204 - -410

Balance at December 31, 2012 7,968 14,237 15,438 1 37,644

Additions 258 1,070 1,664 – 2,992

Reclassifications – – – – –

Disposals -32 -875 -625 – -1,532

Other changes1 -150 -207 -335 . -692

Balance at December 31, 2013 8,044 14,225 16,142 1 38,412

Carrying amount at December 31, 2012 6,973 6,523 4,844 2,259 20,599

Carrying amount at December 31, 2013 6,791 7,350 5,366 2,272 21,779

1  Primarily changes from currency translation.

F.32
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11. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment developed as shown  
in table  F.32.

In 2013, government grants of €34 million (2012: €75 million) 
were deducted from property, plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment include buildings, technical 
equipment and other equipment capitalized under finance lease 
arrangements with a carrying amount of €262 million (2012: 
€348 million). In 2013, additions to and depreciation expense 
on assets under finance lease arrangements amounted to  
€17 million (2012: €33 million) and €67 million (2012: €93 million), 
respectively.

12. Equipment on operating leases

The development of equipment on operating leases  
is included in table  F.33.

As of December 31, 2013, equipment on operating leases with 
a carrying amount of €5,084 million is pledged as security  
for liabilities from ABS transactions related to a securitization 
transaction of future lease payments on operating leases and 
related vehicles (December 31, 2012: €3,803 million) (see also 
Note 24).

Minimum lease payments. Non-cancelable future lease  
payments to Daimler for equipment on operating leases are 
due as presented in table  F.34.

Equipment on operating leases

In millions of euros

Acquisition or manufacturing costs

Balance at January 1, 2012 28,409

Additions due to business combinations –

Other additions 14,700

Reclassifications –

Disposals -10,742

Other changes1 -22

Balance at December 31, 2012 32,345

Additions due to business combinations –

Other additions 15,953

Reclassifications 13

Disposals -12,458

Other changes1 -975

Balance at December 31, 2013 34,878

Depreciation

Balance at January 1, 2012 5,598

Additions 3,813

Reclassifications –

Disposals -3,161

Other changes1 37

Balance at December 31, 2012 6,287

Additions 4,376

Reclassifications –

Disposals -3,733

Other changes1 -212

Balance at December 31, 2013 6,718

Carrying amount at December 31, 2012 26,058

Carrying amount at December 31, 2013 28,160

1  Primarily changes from currency translation.

F.33

Maturity of minimum lease payments for equipment on operating leases

At December 31,
2013 2012

In millions of euros

Maturity

within one year 4,877 4,391

between one and five years 4,692 4,913

later than 5 years 112 156

9,681 9,460

F.34
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13. Investments accounted for using the equity method

Table  F.35 contains key financial figures of investments  
in associated companies and joint ventures accounted for using 
the equity method.

Table  F.36 presents summarized IFRS financial information 
on investments accounted for using the equity method,  
which was the basis for applying the equity method in the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Key figures for investments accounted for using the equity method

EADS RRPSH BBAC BFDA BAIC Motor Kamaz Others Total

In millions of euros

December 31, 2013

Equity interest (in %) – 50.0 49.0 50.0 12.0 15.0 – –

Market value  
(based on listed share prices)1

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
121

 
–

 
–

Equity investment2 – 1,494 640 298 595 155 250 3,432

Equity result (2013)2 3,397 62 84 -26 – 12 -184 3,345

December 31, 2012

Equity interest (in %) 14.9 50.0 50.0 50.0 – 15.0 – –

Market value  
(based on listed share prices)1

 
3,606

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
–

 
99

 
–

 
–

Equity investment2 1,388 1,549 510 328 - 165 364 4,304

Equity result (2012)2 1,224 51 101 -13 - 22 -187 1,198

1  Proportionate market values. 
2  Including investor-level adjustments.

F.35

Summarized IFRS financial information on investments accounted for using the equity method

EADS RRPSH BBAC BFDA BAIC Motor Kamaz Others Total

In millions of euros

Income statement information1

2013

Sales – 3,340 4,490 3,201 554 2,620 4,638 18,843

Net profit/loss – 133 192 -53 269 117 94 752

2012

Sales 53,680 3,015 3,670 376 – 3,062 5,269 69,072

Net profit/loss 1,475 54 232 -26 – 151 -325 1,561

Balance sheet information2

2013

Total assets – 5,834 2,788 1,817 5,100 1,849 4,613 22,001

Equity – 3,334 1,406 595 2,253 887 1,333 9,808

Liabilities – 2,500 1,382 1,222 2,847 962 3,280 12,193

2012

Total assets 86,151 6,058 3,035 1,951 – 1,902 4,371 103,468

Equity 11,850 3,562 1,105 656 – 895 899 18,967

Liabilities 74,301 2,496 1,930 1,295 – 1,007 3,472 84,501

1   Figures for EADS and Kamaz relate to the period from October 1 to September 30. Figures for BBAC and RRPSH relate to the period from January 1 to 
December 31. Figures for BFDA relate to the period from October 1, 2011 to September 30, 2012 for the year 2012 and from October 1, 2012 to  
November 30, 2013 for the year 2013. Figures for BAIC Motor relate to the period from January 1 to September 30, 2013 based on local GAAP.

2   Figures for EADS and Kamaz as of September 30. Figures for BBAC and RRPSH as of December 31. Figures for BFDA as of September 30 for 2012  
and as of November 30 for 2013. Figures for BAIC Motor as of September 30, 2013 based on local GAAP.

F.36
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EADS (since January 2, 2014: Airbus Group N.V.). The Group 
reported and reports its investment in and its proportionate 
share in the results of the European Aeronautic Defence and 
Space Company EADS N.V. (EADS) in the reconciliation of  
total segments’ assets to Group assets and total segments’  
EBIT to Group EBIT, respectively, in the segment reporting. 

On March 27, 2013, the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting 
of EADS approved the new management and shareholder 
structure. Subsequently, the shareholders’ pact concluded  
in the year 2000 was dissolved and replaced with a new  
shareholders’ pact without the participation of Daimler on April 2, 
2013. At the same time, EADS shares which were previously 
held by Daimler but were economically allocable to the Dedalus 
investors were transferred to the Dedalus investors. With  
the dissolution of the previous shareholders’ pact, Daimler lost 
its significant influence on EADS. As a result of the loss  
of significant influence and the transfer of the EADS shares,  
on April 2, 2013, the EADS shares were remeasured through 
profit or loss at the higher current stock-market price of EADS 
shares. Overall, this resulted in income of €3,356 million, 
which was recognized in Group EBIT in 2013. Of that amount, 
€1,669 million is allocable to Daimler shareholders and  
€1,687 million is allocable to the Dedalus investors. The income 
of €3,356 million was disclosed within investments accounted 
for using the equity method and is therefore solely a book gain 
with no impact on cash. Furthermore, income of €41 million 
resulted from measurement using the equity method; thereof 
€34 million in the first quarter of 2013 and €7 million in the 
second quarter of 2013.

On April 16, 2013, the Group announced that it would sell  
its remaining stake of approximately 7.4% in EADS through  
an accelerated placement procedure. The sale, which took 
place on April 17, 2013 at an offer price of €37 per EADS share, 
led to an additional expense of €184 million in Group EBIT in 
2013. The additional expense is disclosed within other financial 
expenses, net, and resulted from the fall in the EADS share 
price since April 2, 2013. The sale generated a cash inflow of 
€2,239 million in 2013. Following the conclusion of the trans-
action, Daimler no longer holds any shares in EADS. Moreover, 
in 2013 the Group entered into cash-settled contracts with 
both Goldman Sachs and Morgan Stanley, which allowed a limited 
upside participation in the EADS share price until the end  
of 2013. This resulted in income of €44 million disclosed within 
other financial expenses, net, for the year 2013.

At December 6, 2012, Daimler had sold a 7.5% stake in EADS  
by way of an accelerated book building. The share price was fixed 
at €27.23, which reflected the final share price at December 5, 
2012 at the Paris Stock exchange. Daimler realized a cash inflow 
of approximately €1.7 billion. The sale resulted in a gain of 
€913 million, which is included in the equity result. Following 
the transaction, Daimler held a 14.9% equity interest in EADS. 
Because of the agreed participation rights in the Supervisory 
Board, Daimler was able to exercise significant influence  
on EADS. The 14.9% share in EADS was held by a subsidiary  
of Daimler which had issued equity interests to investors  
in exchange for cash in 2007. As a result of this transaction, 
the Group reported a non-controlling interest in its consoli-
dated statement of financial position representing the investor’s 
ownership in the consolidated subsidiary that issued the  
equity interest. The amount reported as non-controlling inter-
est reflected the investor’s 50% share in the net assets  
of that subsidiary at December 31, 2012.

RRPSH (formerly Engine Holding)/Tognum (since January 9, 
2014: Rolls-Royce Power Systems AG). In the first half of 
2012, the contribution by Rolls-Royce Holdings plc. (Rolls-Royce) 
to Rolls-Royce Power Systems Holding GmbH (RRPSH) of  
the reciprocating engine business that trades under the Bergen 
brand was completed. As compensation for the 50% stake, 
Daimler made a cash contribution of €200 million to RRPSH.

On September 25, 2012, the dependent company Tognum  
and the controlling company RRPSH concluded a control and 
profit and loss transfer agreement, resulting in Tognum sub-
ordinating the management of its company under the control 
of RRPSH and committing to transfer its total profit to RRPSH. 
The obligation to transfer profits was applicable for the first time 
for the entire profit of financial year 2012, in which the agree-
ment became effective.

On November 15, 2012, Tognum’s shareholders’ meeting 
approved the agreement and the control and profit and loss 
transfer agreement was entered in the commercial register  
on December 19, 2012. 

On January 1, 2013, Rolls-Royce assumed, as contractually 
agreed, control over RRPSH and RRPSH is included as a subsid-
iary in the consolidated financial statements of Rolls-Royce. 
Daimler continues to exercise significant influence on Tognum 
through its equity interest in RRPSH.

The decision of the regional court of Frankfurt am Main  
of November 15, 2011 to transfer Tognum AG shares which  
are not already owned by RRPSH in return for compensation 
(squeeze-out under takeover law) took effect in March  
2013 and RRPSH has held 100% of Tognum’s shares since then. 
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The objections to the decision were withdrawn because the 
appellant’s representatives and RRPSH agreed to an out-of-court 
settlement. The minority shareholders of Tognum AG, whose 
shares were transferred to RRPSH in the context of the squeeze-
out under takeover law, and the former shareholders of  
Tognum AG, who accepted the compensation of the control 
and profit and loss transfer agreement effective December 19, 
2012, received compensation of €31.61 per share pursuant  
to the out-of-court settlement.

Rolls-Royce granted Daimler the right to exercise a put option 
on the shares it holds in RRPSH at a price which generally hedges 
Daimler’s investment in RRPSH. Starting on January 1, 2013, 
the put option has a duration of six years. On December 31, 2013, 
the value of this option was €118 million (2012: €178 million). 
The option has been recognized as an asset to be measured  
at fair value through profit or loss in the following periods.  
The change in the fair value of the option during 2013 resulted 
in a loss of €60 million (2012: gain of €1 million), which is rec-
ognized in other financial expense, net. The carrying amount  
of this option, which is presented under “Other financial 
assets”, as well as future changes in its fair value are recognized 
in segment reporting as corporate items in the reconciliation 
to Group figures. 

The equity interest in and the proportionate share of RRPSH’s 
profit or loss are allocated to the Daimler Trucks segment.

BBAC. The investment and the proportionate share in the results 
of Beijing Benz Automotive Co., Ltd. (BBAC) are allocated  
to the Mercedes-Benz Cars segment. In 2013, Daimler partici-
pated in a capital increase and made a payment of approxi-
mately €160 million. The Chinese partner BAIC Motor Corpora-
tion Ltd. (BAIC Motor) participated with the same amount.  
On November 18, 2013, BAIC Motor increased its stake in BBAC 
by 1% to 51% in the course of a capital increase in which  
Daimler did not participate.

BFDA. In 2012, Beijing Foton Daimler Automotive Co., Ltd. 
received a capital contribution of €344 million from Daimler. 
The investment and the proportionate share in the results  
of BFDA are allocated to the Daimler Trucks segment.

BAIC Motor. On November 18, 2013, BAIC Motor issued new 
shares to Daimler representing a 12% stake in BAIC Motor  
for a purchase price of €627 million including incidental acqui-
sition costs. Resulting from Daimler’s representation on the 
board of directors of BAIC Motor and other contractual arrange-
ments the Group classified this investment as an investment  
in an associate, to be accounted for using the equity-method, 
and allocated the investment to reconciliation of total seg-
ment’s assets to Group assets. In December 2013, the share-
holders of BAIC Motor declared a dividend to its shareholders. 
The portion of €23 million attributable to Daimler has decreased 
the investment book value respectively. The Group is in the 
process to perform an allocation of the purchase price on the 
identifiable assets and liabilities. 

Kamaz. Resulting from its representation on the board of 
directors of Kamaz OAO (Kamaz) and its significant contractual 
rights under the terms of a shareholder agreement, the Group 
can exercise significant influence on Kamaz. Therefore, the Group 
accounts for its equity interest in Kamaz using the equity 
method; the investment and the proportionate share in the 
results of Kamaz are allocated to the Daimler Trucks segment. 

Others. The equity results of the other investments mainly result 
from startup losses at several companies in the area of alter-
native drive systems (2013: €205 million; 2012: €89 million) which 
are allocated to the Mercedes-Benz Cars segment. In 2013, 
impairments of investments of €174 million (2012: €51 million) 
are included.

The Group’s investment in Fujian Benz Automotive Co.,  
Ltd. (FBAC) is included in other investments and is allocated  
to the Mercedes-Benz Vans segment. In 2012, the Group 
recorded an impairment loss of €64 million with respect to its 
investment in FBAC. The loss is included in the equity result. 

The Group’s investment in Tesla Motors, Inc. (Tesla) is also 
included in other investments. The shares in Tesla are held  
by a 100%-consolidated Daimler subsidiary. At December 31, 
2011, Daimler held 60% and Aabar Investments PJSC (Aabar) 
held 40% of that subsidiary. In June 2012, Aabar exchanged its 
40% interest in the holding subsidiary for 3.2% of Tesla’s 
shares. In October 2012, Tesla issued approximately 8 million 
new shares in the context of a capital increase in which  
Daimler did not participate. As a result, Daimler held a 4.3% 
equity interest in Tesla as of December 31, 2012. In 2013,  
the Group realized a dilution gain of €11 million due to a capital 
increase in which Daimler did not take part. The equity inter-
est in Tesla amounts to 4.0% as of December 31, 2013; the fair 
value and the carrying amount of the investment were €531  
million and €13 million as of December 31, 2013 respectively 
(December 31, 2012: €125 million and €6 million). Due to  
its representation on the board of directors, participation in  
decision-making processes and jointly conducted projects,  
the Group can exercise significant influence on Tesla. Therefore, 
the Group accounts for its equity interest in Tesla using the 
equity method; the investment and the proportionate share in 
the results of Tesla are allocated to the Mercedes-Benz Cars 
segment.

Further information on investments accounted for using  
the equity method is included in Note 36. 
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14. Receivables from financial services

Table  F.37 shows the components of receivables from  
financial services.

Types of receivables. Retail receivables include loans and 
finance leases to end users of the Group’s products who  
purchased their vehicle either from a dealer or directly from 
Daimler. 

Wholesale receivables represent loans for floor financing  
programs for vehicles sold by the Group’s automotive businesses 
to dealers or loans for assets purchased by dealers from third 
parties, primarily used vehicles traded in by dealers’ customer 
or real estate such as dealers’ showrooms.

Other receivables mainly represent non-automotive assets 
from contracts of the financial services business with third 
parties.

All cash flow effects attributable to receivables from financial 
services are presented within cash provided by/used for  
operating activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Allowances. Changes in the allowance account for receivables 
from financial services are included in table  F.38.

The total expense of impairment losses on receivables  
from financial services amounted to €416 million in 2013 
(2012: €390 million).

Receivables from financial services

At December 31, 2013 At December 31, 2012
Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

In millions of euros

Receivables from 

Retail 13,513 26,169 39,682 13,289 25,379 38,668

Wholesale 9,781 1,723 11,504 8,995 1,687 10,682

Other 97 358 455 102 546 648

Gross carrying amount 23,391 28,250 51,641 22,386 27,612 49,998

Allowances for doubtful accounts -390 -481 -871 -388 -550 -938

Carrying amount, net 23,001 27,769 50,770 21,998 27,062 49,060

F.37

Changes in the allowance account for receivables from financial services

2013 2012

In millions of euros

Balance at January 1 938 946

Charged to costs and expenses 405 370

Amounts written off -273 -235

Reversals -137 -132

Currency translation and other changes -62 -11

Balance at December 31 871 938

F.38
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Credit risks. Table  F.39 gives an overview of credit risks 
included in receivables from financial services.

Receivables not subject to an individual impairment  
assessment are grouped and subject to collective impairment 
allowances to cover credit losses.

Further information on financial risks and nature of risks  
is provided in Note 32.

Finance leases. Finance leases consist of leasing contracts 
for which all substantial risks and rewards incidental to the 
leasing objects are transferred to the lessee.

Maturities of the finance lease contracts are shown  
in table  F.40.

As of December 31, 2013, receivables from financial services 
with a carrying amount of €3,007 million (2012: €3,056 million) 
were pledged as collateral for liabilities from ABS transactions 
(see also Note 24).

Within the context of the ongoing concentration on the auto-
motive business, Daimler Financial Services sold non-automotive 
assets that were subject to leveraged leases in 2013. This 
resulted in a total cash inflow of €48 million in 2013. There was 
no significant impact on the consolidated statement of income.
 
Furthermore, Daimler Financial Services sold in February 2014 
additional non-automotive assets that were subject to leveraged 
lease contracts with a net book value of US$32 million for  
a purchase price of US$94 million. The resulting pre-tax income 
is allocated to the Daimler Financial Services segment in the 
first quarter of 2014. On the grounds of materiality, there has 
been no separate presentation as “non-current assets held  
for sale” in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Credit risks included in receivables from �nancial services

At December 31,
2013 2012

In millions of euros

Receivables, neither past due nor impaired  
individually

 
47,264

 
45,411

Receivables past due, not impaired individually

less than 30 days 1,479 1,478

30 to 59 days 266 293

60 to 89 days 59 78

90 to 119 days 38 56

120 days or more 173 158

Total 2,015 2,063

Receivables impaired individually 1,491 1,586

Carrying amount, net 50,770 49,060

F.39

Maturities of the �nance lease contracts

 
 

< 1 year

 
1 year up to 

5 years

At December 31, 2013  
 

< 1 year

 
1 year up to 

5 years

At December 31, 2012
 

> 5 years
 

Total
 

> 5 years
 

Total

In millions of euros

Contractual future lease payments 4,667 7,568 482 12,717 4,307 6,798 425 11,530

Unguaranteed residual values 367 1,796 56 2,219 485 1,665 71 2,221

Gross investment 5,034 9,364 538 14,936 4,792 8,463 496 13,751

Unearned finance income -489 -889 -85 -1,463 -468 -861 -59 -1,388

Gross carrying amount 4,545 8,475 453 13,473 4,324 7,602 437 12,363

Allowances for doubtful accounts -150 -213 -15 -378 -163 -205 -27 -395

Carrying amount, net 4,395 8,262 438 13,095 4,161 7,397 410 11,968

F.40






















































































































